

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Biomaterials

Biomaterials 26 (2005) 3995-4021

www.elsevier.com/locate/biomaterials

Synthesis and surface engineering of iron oxide nanoparticles for biomedical applications

Review

Ajay Kumar Gupta^{a,*}, Mona Gupta^b

^aCrusade Laboratories Limited, Southern General Hospital, 1345 Govan Road, Glasgow G51 4TF, Scotland, UK ^bDivision of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, IBLS, Davidson Building, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G12 8QQ, Scotland, UK

> Received 3 June 2004; accepted 18 October 2004 Available online 10 December 2004

Abstract

Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPION) with appropriate surface chemistry have been widely used experimentally for numerous in vivo applications such as magnetic resonance imaging contrast enhancement, tissue repair, immunoassay, detoxification of biological fluids, hyperthermia, drug delivery and in cell separation, etc. All these biomedical and bioengineering applications require that these nanoparticles have high magnetization values and size smaller than 100 nm with overall narrow particle size distribution, so that the particles have uniform physical and chemical properties. In addition, these applications need special surface coating of the magnetic particles, which has to be not only non-toxic and biocompatible but also allow a targetable delivery with particle localization in a specific area. To this end, most work in this field has been done in improving the biocompatibility of the materials, but only a few scientific investigations and developments have been carried out in improving the quality of magnetic particles, their size distribution, their shape and surface in addition to characterizing them to get a protocol for the quality control of these particles. Nature of surface coatings and their subsequent geometric arrangement on the nanoparticles determine not only the overall size of the colloid but also play a significant role in biokinetics and biodistribution of nanoparticles in the body. The types of specific coating, or derivatization, for these nanoparticles depend on the end application and should be chosen by keeping a particular application in mind, whether it be aimed at inflammation response or anti-cancer agents. Magnetic nanoparticles can bind to drugs, proteins, enzymes, antibodies, or nucleotides and can be directed to an organ, tissue, or tumour using an external magnetic field or can be heated in alternating magnetic fields for use in hyperthermia. This review discusses the synthetic chemistry, fluid stabilization and surface modification of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles, as well as their use for above biomedical applications.

© 2004 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Magnetic nanoparticles; MRI; Drug delivery; Surface modification; Hyperthermia; Cell labelling; Iron oxide

Contents

1.	Introduction	3996
2.	Synthesis of magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles	3997
3.	Surface modification of magnetic nanoparticles for biomedical applications and their effect on stability and magnetization3.1.Surface modification with non-polymeric organic stabilizers3.2.Surface modification with polymeric stabilizers	4000 4001 4002
*	⁶ Corresponding author. Tel.: +441414451716; fax: +441414451715.	
	<i>E-mail address:</i> akgupta25(<i>a</i>)notmail.com (A.K. Gupta).	

URL: http://ajaymona.tripod.com.

0142-9612/s - see front matter \bigcirc 2004 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.10.012

	3.3.	Surface modification with inorganic molecules	4003
	3.4.	Surface functionalization with targeting ligands	4004
	3.5.	Magnetic properties of iron oxide nanoparticles	4004
4.	Appli	cations of magnetic nanoparticles	4006
	4.1.	Cellular labelling/cell separation	4006
		4.1.1. Detoxification of biological fluids	4010
	4.2.	Tissue repair	4010
	4.3.	Drug delivery.	4010
	4.4.	Magnetic resonance imaging	4012
	4.5.	Hyperthermia.	4013
	4.6.	Magnetofection	4014
5.	Concl	luding remarks and future directions	4014
Ref	erences	δ	4014

1. Introduction

In the last decade, nanotechnology has developed to such an extent that it has become possible to fabricate, characterize and specially tailor the functional properties of nanoparticles for biomedical applications and diagnostics [1-4]. As intermediates between the molecular and the solid states, inorganic nanoparticles combine chemical accessibility in solution with physical properties of the bulk phase [5]. They are thus ideal elements for the construction of nanostructured materials and devises with adjustable physical and chemical properties [1,6]. The application of small iron oxide particles in in vitro diagnostics has been practised for nearly 40 years [7]. In the last decade, increased investigations with several types of iron oxides have been carried out in the field of nanosized magnetic particles (mostly maghemite, γ -Fe₂O₃, or magnetite, Fe₃O₄, single domains of about 5–20 nm in diameter), among which magnetite is a very promising candidate since its biocompatibility has already proven [8]. Magnetite, Fe₃O₄, is a common magnetic iron oxide that has a cubic inverse spinel structure with oxygen forming an fcc closed packing and Fe cations occupying interstitial tetrahedral sites and octahedral sites [9]. The electrons can hop between Fe^{2+} and Fe^{3+} ions in the octahedral sites at room temperature, rendering magnetite an important class of half-metallic materials [10]. With proper surface coating, these magnetic nanoparticles can be dispersed into suitable solvents, forming homogeneous suspensions, called ferrofluids [11,12]. Such a suspension can interact with an external magnetic field and be positioned to a specific area, facilitating magnetic resonance imaging for medical diagnosis and AC magnetic field-assisted cancer therapy [13].

Nanosized particles have physical and chemical properties that are characteristic of neither the atom nor the bulk counterparts [14]. Quantum size effects and

the large surface area of magnetic nanoparticles dramatically change some of the magnetic properties and exhibit superparamagnetic phenomena and quantum tunnelling of magnetization, because each particle can be considered as a single magnetic domain [15]. Based on their unique mesoscopic physical, chemical, thermal, and mechanical properties, superparamagnetic nanoparticles offer a high potential for several biomedical applications, such as [16–19]:

- (a) cellular therapy such as cell labelling, targeting and as a tool for cell-biology research to separate and purify cell populations;
- (b) tissue repair;
- (c) drug delivery;
- (d) magnetic resonance imaging (MRI);
- (e) hyperthermia;
- (f) magnetofection; etc.

For these applications, the particles must have combined properties of high magnetic saturation, biocompatibility and interactive functions at the surface. The surfaces of these particles could be modified through the creation of few atomic layers of organic polymer or inorganic metallic (e.g. gold) or oxide surfaces (e.g. silica or alumina), suitable for further functionalization by the attachment of various bioactive molecules [20]. They are either dispersed through a large volume of a polymeric bead or occur as core in colloidal reagent with a biodegradable shell. As the magnetic particles accumulate, e.g., in tumour tissue, they can play an important role in detection through MRI or electron microscopic imaging to locate and measure binding or as drug carrier for certain anti-cancer drugs. The magnetic nanoparticles having suitable surface characteristics have a high potential for the use in a lot of in vitro and in vivo applications. In all cases, superparamagnetic particles are of interest because they do not retain any magnetism after removal of magnetic field [21]. The effectiveness of the particles depends upon:

- (a) high magnetic susceptibility for an effective magnetic enrichment [22];
- (b) size of particles which should be monosized in the range of 6–15 nm (Particles below a critical particle size (<15 nm) would consist of a single magnetic domain, i.e. a particle that is a state of uniform magnetization at any field with superparamagnetism and high saturation magnetization values [23]. The particles in this size range are rapidly removed through extravasations and renal clearance [24].);
- (c) superparamagnetic behaviour [21];
- (d) tailored surface chemistry for specific biomedical applications [1]; etc.

2. Synthesis of magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles

It has long been of scientific and technological challenge to synthesize the magnetic nanoparticles of customized size and shape. Physical methods such as gas phase deposition and electron beam lithography are elaborate procedures that suffer from the inability to control the size of particles [25–28] in the nanometer size range. The wet chemical routes to magnetic nanoparticles are simpler, more tractable and more efficient with appreciable control over size, composition and sometimes even the shape of the nanoparticles [29–31]. Iron oxides (either Fe_3O_4 or γ - Fe_2O_3) can be synthesized through the co-precipitation of Fe²⁺ and Fe³⁺ aqueous salt solutions by addition of a base [32]. The control of size, shape and composition of nanoparticles depends on the type of salts used (e.g. chlorides, sulphates, nitrates, perchlorates, etc.), Fe^{2+} and Fe^{3+} ratio, pH and ionic strength of the media [33,34].

Conventionally, magnetite is prepared by adding a base to an aqueous mixture of Fe^{2+} and Fe^{3+} chloride at a 1:2 molar ratio. The precipitated magnetite is black in colour. The chemical reaction of Fe_3O_4 precipitation is given in Fig. 1. The overall reaction may be written as follows [35,36]:

$$Fe^{2+} + 2Fe^{3+} + 8OH^- \rightarrow Fe_3O_4 + 4H_2O.$$
 (1)

According to the thermodynamics of this reaction, a complete precipitation of Fe_3O_4 should be expected between pH 9 and 14, while maintaining a molar ratio of $Fe^{3+}:Fe^{2+}$ is 2:1 under a non-oxidizing oxygenfree environment. Otherwise, Fe_3O_4 might also be oxidized as

$$Fe_3O_4 + 0.25O_2 + 4.5H_2O \rightarrow 3Fe(OH)_3.$$
 (2)

This would critically affect the physical and chemical properties of the nanosized magnetic particles. In order to prevent them from possible oxidation in air as well as



Fig. 1. Scheme showing the reaction mechanism of magnetite particle formation from an aqueous mixture of ferrous and ferric chloride by addition of a base. The precipitated magnetite is black in colour.

from agglomeration, Fe_3O_4 nanoparticles produced by reaction (1) are usually coated with organic or inorganic molecules during the precipitation process. To control the reaction kinetics, which is strongly related with the oxidation speed of iron species, the synthesis of particles must be done in an oxygen-free environment by passing N₂ gas. Bubbling nitrogen gas through the solution not only protects critical oxidation of the magnetite but also reduces the particle size when compared with methods without removing the oxygen [31,37].

Genesis of the particles in the solution under optimum synthetic conditions takes place by the formation of tiny crystalline nuclei in a supersaturated medium, followed by crystal growth [8]. The latter process is controlled by mass transport and by the surface equilibrium of addition and removal of individual monomers, i.e., atoms, ions, or molecules. Hereby, the driving force for monomer removal (dissolution) increases with decreasing particle size. Thus, within an ensemble of particles with slightly different sizes, the large particles will grow at the cost of the small ones. This mechanism is called Ostwald ripening and is generally believed to be the main path of crystal growth [38].

A different view of crystal growth is emerging from recent experiments by Penn and Banfield [39–41]. They observed that anatase and iron oxide nanoparticles with size of a few nanometers can coalesce under hydrothermal conditions in a way they call oriented attachment. In the so-formed aggregates, the crystalline lattice planes may be almost perfectly aligned or dislocated at the contact areas between the adjacent particles, leading to defects in the finally formed bulk crystals. They presented strong evidence that this type of crystal growth plays an important role in earth history during mineral formation. Other authors also proposed oriented attachment during crystal growth of TiO₂ [42] and for micrometer-sized ZnO particles during the formation of rod-like ZnO microcrystals [43].

Magnetite particles obtained under different synthetic conditions may display large differences regarding their magnetic properties. These differences are attributed to changes in structural disorder [44], creation of antiphase boundaries [45], or the existence of a magnetically dead layer at the particle surface [46]. The saturation magnetization (Ms) values found in nanostructured materials are usually smaller than the corresponding bulk phases, provided that no change in ionic configurations occurs. Accordingly, experimental values for Ms (i.e. magnetic saturation) in magnetite nanoparticles have been reported to span the 30-50 emu/g range, lower than the bulk magnetite value; 90 emu/g [47]. Many studies have been reported on the origin of the observed reduction in magnetization in fine magnetic particles. The first studies on the decrease in magnetization performed in γ -Fe₂O₃ by Coey [48] showed that this reduction is due to the existence of noncollinear spins at the surface, making the same mechanism appealing for Fe₃O₄. Also, in magnetite fine particles, Varanda et al. [49] have reported a linear correlation between saturation magnetization and particle size, suggesting that defects at the particle surface can influence the magnetic properties. The surface curvature of the nanoparticle was much larger for smaller particle size, which encouraged disordered crystal orientation on the surface and thus resulted in significantly decreased Ms in smaller nanoparticles.

The disadvantage of these bulk solution synthesis is that the pH value of the reaction mixture has to be adjusted in both the synthesis and purification steps. As a result, the production of significant quantities of narrowly dispersed, nanometer sized magnetic particles remains a significant challenge through these methods. The critical difficulty is that these particles form aggregates and grow to minimize the overall surface free energy, so that free precipitation is not a viable technique [50].

Advancement in the use of magnetic particles for biomedical applications depends on the new synthetic methods with better control of the size distribution, magnetic properties and the particle surface characteristics (see Table 3). Organized assemblies [51] or complex structures have been used as reactors [52] to obtain ultrafine magnetic iron oxide particles. Stable aqueous magnetic suspensions can also be fabricated using various saturated and unsaturated fatty acids as primary and secondary surfactants [53]. In practice, however, little control can actually be exercised over the size and size distribution of the nanostructures and, moreover, only small quantities of iron oxide can be obtained, owing to the constraints of low reagent concentrations necessitated by this synthetic procedure. A variety of other methods based on the principle of

precipitation in highly constrained domains have been developed; these include sol-gel preparation [54], polymer matrix-mediated synthesis [55], precipitation using microemulsions [56,57] and vesicles [58]. Small quantities of these materials have been produced in apoferritin cages and laboratory-grown bacteria [59].

The principle behind controlling the size of particles formed by precipitation of cations within constrained cavities can be understood as follows: If the aqueous core and particle are assumed spherical, the expected fully dense single-particle diameter upon cation exhaustion is $d = 0.1D(M/M_w/\rho)^{1/3}$, where d and D are particle and vesicle internal diameters, M is the internal cation molarity. Mw is the molecular weight of the product and ρ is the product density (in g/cm³). Particle size can therefore be controlled by varying the solution concentration and cavity size [60].

A microemulsion is defined as a thermodynamically stable isotropic dispersion of two immiscible liquids, since the microdomain of either or both liquids has been stabilized by an interfacial film of surface-active molecules [61]. In water-in-oil microemulsions, the aqueous phase is dispersed as microdroplets (typically 1-50 nm in size) surrounded by a monolayer of surfactant molecules in the continuous hydrocarbon phase [62]. When a soluble metal salt is incorporated in the aqueous phase of the microemulsion, it will reside in the aqueous microdroplets surrounded by oil. These microdroplets will continuously collide, coalesce, and break again [63]. Conceptually, when reactants A and B are dissolved in two identical water-in-oil microemulsions, they will form an AB precipitate on mixing. The growth of these particles in microemulsions can be conceptualized as a progress of interdroplet exchange and nuclei aggregation [64-66]. The finely dispersed precipitate so produced can be extracted from the surfactants.

Recently, we have utilized water-in-oil microemulsions to synthesize superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles in narrow size range with uniform chemical and physical properties [29]. Highly monodispersed iron oxide nanoparticles were synthesized by



Fig. 2. Structure of reverse micelles formed by dissolving AOT, a surfactant, in *n*-hexane. The inner core of the reverse micelle is hydrophilic and can dissolve water-soluble compounds. The size of these inner aqueous droplets can be modulated by controlling the parameter Wo (Wo = [water]/[surfactant]).

using the aqueous core of aerosol-OT (AOT)/*n*-hexane reverse micelles (w/o microemulsions) (Fig. 2). The reverse micelles have aqueous inner core, which can dissolve hydrophilic compounds, salts, etc. A deoxygenated aqueous solution of the Fe^{3+} and Fe^{2+} salts (molar ratio 2:1) was dissolved in the aqueous core of the reverse micelles formed by AOT in *n*-hexane. Chemical precipitation was achieved by using a deoxygenated solution of sodium hydroxide. Smaller and more uniform particles were prepared by precipitation of magnetite at low temperature in the presence of nitrogen gas (Fig. 3) [67]. The size of the inner aqueous core of reverse micelles is in nanometer range [68], so the magnetic nanoparticles prepared inside these nanoreactors were found to be very small in size (less than 15 nm) with narrow size distribution (Fig. 4). The colloidal nanoparticles exhibit superparamagnetic behaviour with high magnetization values. The principle advantage of utilizing this type of microemulsion system for nanoparticle formation is that the size of nanoparticles can be controlled by modulating the size of aqueous micellar core [69].



Fig. 3. Strategy of preparing highly monodispersed iron oxide nanoparticles inside the w/o microemulsion droplets. Iron salts were dissolved inside the aqueous cores of reverse micelles and precipitated using alkali solutions to get the particles of desired size.



Fig. 4. Transmission electron microscopy pictures of magnetic particles prepared in (a) bulk solutions and (b) in w/o microemulsions.

Igartua et al. [70] have described the preparation of colloidal lipid particles containing magnetite from warm emulsions. A two-step method was used to obtain the spherical nanoparticles of 62 nm: (i) formulation of a transparent phase by heating an o/w emulsion formed by aqueous surfactant solution melted with a lipid phase, containing the ethyl oleate and soybean lecithin in which modified lipophilic magnetite was incorporated, and (ii) preparation of the nanoparticles by dispersing the warm transparent phase in cold water under mechanical stirring.

Yaacob et al. [60] have reported the production of magnetic nanoparticles by precipitation within spontaneous generated vesicles from mixtures of single-tailed cationic (cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB)) and anionic (dodecylbenzenesulphonic acid (DBSA)) surfactants. The CTAB/DBSA molar ratio was 7:3 and the magnetic particles were produced by gently heating the Fe^{2+} hydroxide precipitate that formed under the room temperature conditions used in the experiments. Since solution pH is an important factor controlling the stability of metal hydroxides precipitated in aqueous media [71,72], use of the acid form of the anionic surfactants affords an opportunity to tune to the pH. In another study, the same authors have shown that by using appropriate ratios of cationic to anionic surfactant in the suspension, magnetic nanoparticles can be formed directly at room temperature as a result of obtaining the "right" range of intravesicular pH [73].

3. Surface modification of magnetic nanoparticles for biomedical applications and their effect on stability and magnetization

In the preparation and storage of nanoparticles in colloidal form, the stability of the colloid is of utmost

importance. Ferrofluids are colloidal suspensions of magnetic particles (Fe_3O_4 or Fe_2O_3), forming magnetizable fluids that remain liquid in the most intense magnetic fields and find widespread applications. As a result of their composition, magnetic fluids possess a unique combination of fluidity and the capability to interact with a magnetic field [74-76]. In the absence of any surface coating, magnetic iron oxide particles have hydrophobic surfaces with a large surface area to volume ratio. Due to hydrophobic interactions between the particles, these particles agglomerate and form large clusters, resulting in increased particle size. These clusters, then, exhibit strong magnetic dipole-dipole attractions between them and show ferromagnetic behaviour [77]. When two large-particle clusters approach one another, each of them comes into the magnetic field of the neighbour. Besides the arousal of attractive forces between the particles, each particle is in the magnetic field of the neighbour and gets further magnetized [78]. The adherence of remnant magnetic particles causes a mutual magnetization, resulting in increased aggregation properties.

Since particles are attracted magnetically, in addition to the usual flocculation due to Vander Waals force, surface modification is often indispensable. For effective stabilization of iron oxide nanoparticles, often a very high requirement of density for coating is desirable. Some stabilizer such as a surfactant or a polymer is usually added at the time of preparation to prevent aggregation of the nanoscale particulate. Most of these polymers adhere to surfaces in a substrate-specific manner [79]. Scheme showing different strategies for fabrication and surface modification of magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles is shown in Fig. 5.

However, one should be careful about choosing the coating materials for the nanoparticles. Nanoparticle coatings may be comprised of several materials



Fig. 5. Scheme showing different strategies for fabrication and surface modification of magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. Smaller and more uniform nanoparticles can be prepared inside the aqueous droplets of reverse micelles. Also, the particles below 100 nm can evade RES and have long blood circulation times.

Table 1

Different polymers/molecules which can be used for nanoparticle coating to stabilize the ferrofluids and also for other biological applications

Polymers/molecules	Advantages	References
Polyethylene glycol (PEG)	Non-covalent immobilization of PEG on the surface improves the biocompatibility,	[29,198,215]
Dextran	Enhances the blood circulation time, stabilizes the colloidal solution	[20,102]
Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP)	Enhances the blood circulation time and stabilizes the colloidal solution	[249]
Fatty acids	Colloidal stability, terminal functional carboxyl groups	[95]
Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA)	Prevents coagulation of particles, giving rise to monodisperse particles	[250]
Polyacrylic acid	Increase the stability and biocompatibility of the particles and also helps in bioadhesion	[251]
Polypeptides	Good for cell biology, e.g. targeting to cell	[222,247]
Phosphorylcholine	Poorly complement and coagulation activating, colloidal solution stabilizer	[91]
Poly (D, L- lactide)	Biocompatible, low cytotoxicity	[85]
Poly(<i>N</i> -isopropylacryl- amide) (PolyNIPAAM)	Thermosensitive drug delivery and cell separation	[252]
Chitosan	A natural cationic linear polymer that is widely used as non-viral gene delivery system, biocompatible, hydrophilic, used in agriculture, food, medicine, biotechnology, textiles, polymers, and water treatment	[253]
Gelatin	Used as a gelling agent, emulsifier hydrophilic, biocompatible, natural polymer	[254]

including both inorganic and polymeric materials [80–82]. Polymeric coating materials can be classified into synthetic and natural. Polymers based on poly(ethylene-*co*-vinyl acetate), poly(vinylpyrrolidone) (PVP), poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA), poly(ethyleneglycol) (PEG), poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA), etc. are typical examples of synthetic polymeric systems [83–85]. Natural polymer systems include use of gelatin, dextran, chitosan, pullulan, etc. [86–90]. Various surfactants, e.g. sodium oleate, dodecylamine, sodium carboxymethylcellulose, are also usually used to enhance dispersibility in an aqueous medium [91–93]. Table 1 provides a list of materials that could be used to stabilize the nanoparticles along with their biomedical applications.

3.1. Surface modification with non-polymeric organic stabilizers

In order to stabilize the colloidal dispersion, Gedanken et al. studied the adsorption of alkanesulphonic and alkanephosphonic acids on the surfaces of amorphous Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles and proposed two possible bonding schemes for the phosphonate ions on Fe^{3+} , i.e., one O or two O atoms of the phosphonate groups binding onto the surface [94]. Sahoo et al. [95] have reported the surface derivatization of magnetite by oleic acid, lauric acid, dodecylphosphonic acid, hexadecylphosphonic acid, dihexadecylphosphonic acid etc. to stabilize the nanoparticles in organic solvents. They found that alkyl phosphonates and phosphates could be used for obtaining thermodynamically stable dispersions of magnetic nanoparticles. The authors suggested on the basis of the results obtained from the temperature and enthalpy desorption studies that these ligands form a

quasi-bilayer structure with the primary layer strongly bonded to the surface of nanoparticles.

The ferrofluids, frequently dispersed in hexadecane (HD: $C_{16}H_{34}$) as the carrier medium, may be stabilized by various long-chain surfactants, the classic example being oleic acid, (CH₃(CH₂)₇CH=CH(CH₂)₇CO₂H), which has a C18 (oleic) tail with a cis-double-bond in the middle, forming a kink. Such kinks have been postulated as necessary for effective stabilization, and indeed stearic acid, (CH₃(CH₂)₁₆CO₂H), with no double-bond in its C18 (stearic) tail, cannot stabilize ferrofluid suspensions [96–98]. This is a puzzle in so far as molecules such as $C_9H_{18}=C_9H_{18}$ and *n*-octadecane ($C_{18}H_{38}$), which are identical in structure to the tails of the respective surfactants, are both readily soluble in HD and so would be expected to provide similar stabilizing properties.

Oleic acid and stearic acid are similar surfactants which, however, lead respectively to stability and to precipitation of ferrofluid suspensions: to understand this, the forces between layers of oleic-like surfactants and between layers of stearic-like surfactants across a hexadecane (HD) medium were measured using a surface force balance (SFB), the force versus distance profiles between layers of oleic-tailed and of stearictailed surfactants, and the wettability of these layers by HD [98]. Using SFB, the surface separations can be measured to an absolute accuracy of 1-2 Å in the range from contact to several thousand angstroms by multiple beam interferometry. The two mica sheets are mounted on cylindrical quartz lenses in a crossed-cylinder configuration (inset). The distance D between them is measured to $\pm 1-2$ Å via optical fringes arising from interference of white light passing through the sheets. SFB can measure normal and shear stresses that are a

factor of some 5000-10,000 smaller than can be achieved with conventional scanning probe methods. The surfaces are separated by four molecular layers of cyclohexane, and when the shear force exceeds the frictional force the surfaces slide by a stick-slip mechanism as the thin films undergo consecutive melting and freezing [99,100]. Separate measurements revealed that only the oleic layers are solvated by HD, while the SFB results revealed that for both surfactants, a marked net attraction is present between the surfaces. Simple considerations based on these observations explain why, despite this attraction, ferrofluid dispersions are stabilized by oleic but not by stearic surfactants [98]. Because use of polymers leads to thick surface layers, Portet et al. have [101] developed monomeric organic molecules as coating materials. The main property of these small molecules is to produce a homogeneous coating of the entire iron oxide core that is able to inhibit the protein absorption. Phosphorylcholine (PC)-derived polymers are known to protect prosthesis against protein contamination, but pure PC coatings do not allow colloidal stability at physiological pH [91].

3.2. Surface modification with polymeric stabilizers

Polymeric coatings on magnetic nanoparticles offer a high potential in several areas of applications. Precipitation of inorganic particles in a cross-linked polymer matrix or network of gel often prevents coagulation of particles, giving rise to monodisperse particles [102,103]. The pioneering work of Ugelstad et al. [104], based on the preparation of hydrophobic monosized polystyrene magnetic particles, has stimulated the research in this domain. The methodology used is basically based on direct precipitation of iron salts inside in the pores of the porous polystyrene seed. The particles obtained exhibit large particle sizes (i.e. 2.8 and 4.5 µm) with a good magnetic separation. The hydrophilic magnetic latexes have been first reported by Kawaguchi et al. [105] using acrylamide as the initial monomer. The second type of hydrophilic magnetic nanoparticles has been reported by Sauzedde et al. [106,107] using Furusawa et al.'s methodology [108]. The hydrophilic temperature-sensitive latexes have been obtained by encapsulating adsorbed iron oxide nanoparticles onto oppositely charged polystyrene-core/poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) shell. The encapsulation has been performed using water-soluble monomers such as N-isopropylacrylamide, N-N' methylene bis acrylamide, itaconic acid, etc. The final particles exhibited thermal-sensitive property. In addition, various original methods (via non-conventional polymerization) have been investigated using natural polymers or proteins. In this domain, an interesting paper has been reported by Chatterjee et al. [109], such as cross-linked albumin

magnetic microspheres and their uses in the separation of red blood cells from whole blood.

Lee et al. [110] have modified nanoparticle's surface with PVA by precipitation of iron salts in PVA aqueous solution to form stable dispersion. They found that the crystallinity of the particles decreased with increasing PVA concentration, while the morphology and particle size remained almost unchanged. Recently, self-assembly of ligand-stabilized nanoparticles with size of a few nanometer into two- and three-dimensionally ordered arrays has been reported [111]. In these experiments, however, self-assembly is mainly driven by the interactions of the organic ligands rather than by the interaction of the particle cores. Contrarily, selfassembled oriented attachment was only observed for ligand-free nanoparticles.

For better dispersion, magnetite particles are often modified after precipitation [112]. In a recent publication, we have shown that the synthesis of hydrophilic magnetic polymeric nanoparticles with magnetite core and polymeric shell is possible using an inverse microemulsion polymerization process [29]. The strategy of utilizing inverse microemulsion approach to modulating the surface of magnetic nanoparticles with PEG is based on the following prior observations: (i) Preparation of hydrophilic nanoparticles is possible in the aqueous cores of reverse micellar droplets. (ii) The size of the particles can be modulated down to 10 nm diameter by regulating the size of the aqueous core of reverse micelles. (iii) Since the cross-linking and polymerization reactions take place in the aqueous core of reverse micelles, it is possible to coat the magnetic particles inside these nanoreactors [113]. The results obtained have demonstrated that the inverse microemulsion is a superior method over other bulk precipitation methods to synthesize magnetic polymeric nanoparticles with a good control over iron oxide amount and magnetic properties.

Saturation magnetization values of magnetite depend on the temperature and surface characteristics of the nanoparticles. It is well known that above blocking temperature $(T_{\rm B})$, superparamagnetic nanoparticles become thermally unstable and the magnetization values decrease exponentially as MV/kT become larger than 1 [114], where M is the magnitude of magnetization, V is the particle volume, k is the Boltzmann constant and Tis absolute temperature. The superparamagnetic particles deflect uniquely to the strong field side of the gradient magnet, but this behaviour decreases as a function of increasing temperature. When the particles are chemically coated with sodium oleate, the blocking temperature is suppressed to lower temperature. In the absence of any coating, due to the increase in the large ratio of surface area to volume, the attractive force between the nanoparticles increases and agglomeration of the nanoparticles takes place. These agglomerated

nanoparticles act as a cluster, resulting in an increase in the blocking temperature [115]. In contrast, surfacecoated particles are more freely aligned with the external field than the uncoated nanoparticles. The repulsive force between hydrophobic surfactant molecules coated on single particles can prevent them from agglomeration [31]. The total effective magnetic moment of such coated particles is found to decrease, which is most likely due to a non-collinear spin structure originated from the pinning of the surface spins and coated surfactant at the interface of the nanoparticles.

When considering the coating materials for drug delivery applications, it is usually required that particles should have sufficient hydrophilic surfaces and size less than 100 nm so that they can evade the reticuloendothelial system. However, nanoparticles have large surface area/volume ratios and tend to agglomerate and adsorb plasma proteins. When the nanoparticles agglomerate, or are covered with adsorbed plasma proteins, they are quickly cleared by macrophages in the reticuloendothe-lial system before they can reach target cells [116]. One possible approach, therefore, to increasing the circulation time of nanoparticles in the blood stream is to coat the particles with hydrophilic polymers such as PEG to disperse them and minimize or eliminate the protein adsorption [117].

3.3. Surface modification with inorganic molecules

Metallic core shell types of iron oxide nanoparticles have been investigated by several researchers. These nanoparticles have inner iron oxide core with an outer metallic shell of inorganic materials. The iron oxide nanoparticles have been coated with silica, gold or gadolinium, etc. These coatings provide not only the stability to the nanoparticles in solution but also helps in binding the various biological ligands at the nanoparticle surface for various biomedical applications. Chen et al. [118] synthesized two kinds of gold-coated ironbased particles: acicular and spherical, and studied the effect of heat treatment in acid on the coercivity and saturation magnetization of the particles. The goldcoated acicular particles had initial coercivities very close to those of the uncoated sample, and the changes after heating in acid were small. The relative saturation magnetization after treatment was higher than for the uncoated particles, indicating at least partial passivation of the Fe. The uncoated spherical iron-based particles were superparamagnetic at room temperature, but the Au-coated spherical particles had a very small coercivity due to slight oxidation during the coating process. While the relative magnetization decreased, the particle moment was still greater than would be expected for pure iron oxide.

The Au also provides a good surface for subsequent functionalization with chemical or biological agents

[119]. The Au coating is not sufficiently thick to keep the particles from aggregating, though. Ionic capping ligands, which bind to the particles' surface, must also be added during nanoparticle synthesis. The ligands' electrostatic charge causes the particles to repel, countering the magnetic attraction pulling them together. The larger the magnetic particle, the stronger the force it can exert against blood flow when delivering its pharmaceutical tag. But particles must be sufficiently small to rule out any risk of clogging small capillaries, which could be just a few microns wide. Magnetic nanoparticles designed for drug delivery must also be completely biocompatible. Iron oxide particles are known to be non-toxic, and are eventually broken down to form blood haemoglobin. Au-coated ferromagnetic particles are a slightly trickier issue. The small amounts of Au would likely pass through the body eventually, and any Fe would also be metabolized [119]. Carpenter [120] prepared metallic iron particles coated by a thin layer of gold via a microemulsion. The gold shell protects the iron core against oxidation and also provides functionality, making these composites applicable in biomedicine. Zhou et al. [121] prepared goldcoated iron core-shell structure nanoparticles (Fe/Au), synthesized using reverse micelles characterized by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). The average nanoparticle size of the core-shell structure is about 8 nm, with about 6 nm diameter core and 1–2 nm shell. The magnetic measurement of the nanoparticles also proved successful synthesis of gold-coated iron coreshell structure. The nanoparticles were then assembled under 0.5T magnetic field and formed parallel nanobands about 10 µm long.

Several authors have reported the magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles coated with silica [122-126]. An advantage of having a surface enriched in silica is the presence of surface silanol groups that can easily react with alcohols and silane coupling agents [122] to produce dispersions that are not only stable in non-aqueous solvents but also provide the ideal anchorage for covalent bounding of specific ligands. The strong binding makes desorption of these ligands a difficult task. In addition, the silica surface confers high stability to suspensions of the particles at high volume fractions, changes in pH or electrolyte concentration [123]. Recently, Tartaj et al. have prepared submicronic silica-coated maghemite hollow and dense spheres with a high loading of magnetic material by aerosol pyrolysis [124]. Silica-coated γ -Fe₂O₃ hollow spherical particles with an average size of 150 nm were prepared by the aerosol pyrolysis of methanol solutions containing iron ammonium citrate and tetraethoxysilane (TEOS) [125].

A w/o microemulsion method has also been used for the preparation of silica-coated iron oxide nanoparticles [126]. Three different non-ionic surfactants (Triton X-100, Brij-97 and Igepal CO-520) have been used for the preparation of microemulsions, and their effects on the particle size, crystallinity, and the magnetic properties have been studied. By using this method, magnetic nanoparticles as small as 1-2 nm and of very uniform size (standard deviation less than 10%) have been synthesized. A uniform silica coating as thin as 1 nm encapsulating the bare nanoparticles is formed by the base-catalysed hydrolysis and the polymerization reaction of TEOS in the microemulsion.

A potential hurdle for molecular imaging with paramagnetic MR contrast agents (e.g. iron oxides) entails the anticipated sparseness of the molecular epitopes on targeted cell surfaces (e.g., nanomolar concentrations), in concert with the modest signal intensity from conventional paramagnetic contrast agents, which may result in insufficient contrast-to-noise ratio (CNR) for diagnostic imaging. However, incorporating gadolinium in the nanoparticles can solve the problems associated with iron oxide nanoparticles. For targeted paramagnetic particles carrying high payloads of gadolinium, it is possible to quantify molecular epitopes present in picomolar concentrations in single cells with routine MRI [127]. Ferrofluids containing gadolinium and iron particles in the size range 80–750 Å in diameter have been prepared by evaporating gadolinium and iron onto a mercury surface in an argon atmosphere at a controlled pressure [128]. Particles of gadolinium iron garnet, Gd₃Fe₅O₁₂, were prepared by an aerosol spray pyrolysis technique starting with solutions of gadolinium and iron nitrates [129]. The as-prepared particles were polydisperse solid spheres. Average diameters in the range 0.05-0.8 m could be

obtained by variation of the initial solution concentration. Magnetic measurements showed bulk behaviour for the saturation magnetization, but the coercivity could be varied with particle size with a maximum near the single-domain size.

3.4. Surface functionalization with targeting ligands

Various biological molecules such as antibodies, proteins, targeting ligands, etc., may also be bound to the polymer surfaces onto the nanoparticles by chemically coupling via amide or ester bonds to make the particles target specific. The possibilities of targeting protein coatings are numerous. Some interesting ligands with regard to targeting cell surface receptors are provided in Table 2. Linker molecules such as 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl) carbodi-imide hydrochloride (EDCI), N-succinimidyl 3-(2-pyridyldithio) propionate (SPDP), N-hydroxysuccinimide or N, N' methylene bis acrylamide (MBA) are usually used to attach the initial hydrophilic coated molecules to a protein coating aimed at cell surface attachment [130]. Various applications of magnetic nanoparticles derivatized with targeting ligands are discussed in the following sections.

3.5. Magnetic properties of iron oxide nanoparticles

Iron oxide particle materials are classified by their response to an externally applied magnetic field. Description of orientations of the magnetic moments in a particle helps to identify different types of magnetism observed in nature. The magnetic properties

Table 2

Table of selected proteins/targeting ligands that could be used for derivatizing magnetic nanoparticles for various biomedical applications

Protein/ligand	Functional activity	References
Transferrin	Widely applied as a targeting ligand in the active targeting of anticancer agents, proteins and genes to primary proliferating cells via transferrin receptors	[151,178,181,184]
Lactoferrin	Structurally similar to transferrin, acts as an anti-infective agent, a modulator of the inflammatory response and iron absorption and an immuno-regulatory protein	[31,152,154]
Transforming growth factor- α (TGF- α)	Promotes proliferation and differentiation of cells and may be important for normal wound healing	[248]
Insulin	A hormone that regulates blood glucose levels, is a small protein	[155]
Nerve growth factor (NGF)	Promotes neurite outgrowth and neural cell survival	[255]
Ceruloplasmin	Principal carrier of copper in plasma, which plays an important role in iron homeostasis and is also an effective anti-oxidant for a variety of free radicals	[31,152,154]
Pullulan	High water solubility, no toxicity, usefulness as a plasma expander, non-immunogenic, non-antigenic properties. Also, evidences for receptor-mediated hepatic uptake of pullulan in rats	[243,244]
Elastin	A cross-linked protein in the extracellular matrix that provides elasticity for many tissues	[245]
Albumin	The major serum protein, binds a wide variety of lipophilic compounds including steroids etc	[246]
Tat-peptide	Membrane-permeating peptide, enhances intracellular delivery	[171,222]
RGD peptide	Increases cell spreading, differentiation, and enhances DNA synthesis	[247]
Folic acid	Preferentially target cancer cells, poorly immunogenic, folate receptor facilitates internalization of particles	[198]

of these particles can be described by the dependence of the magnetic induction *B* on the magnetic field *H*. Some materials such as iron exhibit ferromagnetism, in that they can be permanently magnetized. In most materials the relation between *B* and *H* is linear: $B = \mu H$, where μ is the magnetic permeability of the particles. Iron oxide particles exhibit paramagnetism if $\mu > 1$, and diamagnetism if $\mu < 1$. In vacuum, $\mu = 1$. Alternatively, the magnetic susceptibility $\chi = \mu - 1$ is used. Hence, paramagnetic nanoparticles have $\chi > 0$, diamagnetic particles $\chi < 0$, and in vacuum $\chi = 1$ [131] (Table 3).

One important advantage for the magnetic nanoparticle is their superparamagnetism that enables their stability and dispersion upon removal of the magnetic field as no residual magnetic force exist between the particles. Below approximately 15 nm, such particles are so small that the cooperative phenomenon of ferromagnetism is no longer observed and no permanent magnetization remains after the particles have been subject to an external magnetic field. However, the particles still exhibit very strong paramagnetic properties (hence the name of the phenomenon) with a very large susceptibility. In MR imaging, superparamagnetic particles made of iron oxide can be used as contrast agents. They strongly influence T1 relaxation and T2 relaxation, the latter depending strongly on the size and coating of the particles [132].

Particles whose unpaired electron spins align themselves spontaneously so that the material can exhibit magnetization without being in a magnetic field are called ferromagnetic particles. Ferromagnetism is a so-called cooperative phenomenon, as single atoms cannot exhibit ferromagnetism, but once a certain number of atoms are bound together in solid form, ferromagnetic properties arise. When the ferromagnetic particles are removed from the field, they exhibit permanent magnetization. Upon field reversal, the ferromagnetic material will initially oppose the field change, but eventually most domains will have switched their magnetization vectors and the same inverse magnetization is attained. Ferromagnetic materials, which are ground down to particle dimensions smaller than a particular domain, are no longer ferromagnetic but exhibit superparamagnetism [133]. In case of paramagnetic particles, a magnetic field is altered by the magnetic materials present in it. If a particle contains magnetic moments that can be aligned in an external magnetic field, this will amplify the field. Such substances exhibit the property of paramagnetism. In contrast to ferromagnetic materials (ferromagnetism), no permanent magnetization remains in paramagnetic materials when they are removed from the magnetic field. Paramagnetism can be understood by postulating permanent atomic magnetic moments, which can be reoriented in an external field. These moments can be either due to orbiting electrons or due to atomic nuclei. The torque applied by an external magnetic field on these moments will tend to orientate them parallel to the field, which then reinforce it [131].

Sato et al. suggest that the loss of magnetization as the particle size decrease depends largely on the crystalline magnetic anisotropy energy constant, K. Smaller Kconstants display lower relative magnetization values [134]. Experimental analyses including microscopy,

Table 3

Comparison of different characteristic features of the iron oxide nanoparticles fabricated through different methods

Characteristics of the	Synthesis of iron oxide nanoparticles prepared through					
Iron oxide	Aerosol/ vapour(pyrolysis) method	Gas deposition method	Bulk solution method	Sol-gel method	Microemulsion method	
Size and size distribution	About 5–60 nm with broad distribution	About 5–50 nm with narrow size distribution	About 10–50 nm with broad size distribution	About 20–200 nm with broad size distribution	About 4–15 nm with very narrow size distribution	
Morphology	Spherical	Spherical	Spherical (large aggregates)	Spherical with high porosity	Cubic or spherical (no aggregation)	
Magnetization values	10–50 emu/g with desired magnetic property	> 20 emu/g	20–50 emu/g with superparamagnetic behaviour	10–40 emu/g with paramagnetic behaviour	> 30 emu/g with superparamagnetic behaviour	
Advantages	High production rate	Useful for protective coatings and thin film deposition	Large quantities can be synthesized	Particles of desired shape and length can be synthesized, useful making hybrid nanoparticles	Uniform properties and also size of the nanoparticles can be modulated	
Disadvantages	Large aggregates are formed	Require very high temperatures	Uncontrolled oxidation of magnetite to maghemite, diamagnetic contribution	Product usually contains sol-gel matrix components at their surfaces	Surfactants are difficult to remove, only a small quantities of iron oxide can be synthesized	

X-ray diffraction and magnetometry studies suggest that the reduced magnetization is due to surface characteristics of nanoparticles. Specifically, the loss of magnetization may be due to the existence of a magnetically dead layer, $\sim 1 \text{ nm}$ thick, caused by an asymmetric environment effect of the surface atoms [134]. Finally, a spin canting surface effect was suggested by investigations using Mössbauer spectroscopy, which appeared to be enhanced as the particle size and temperature were decreased [135].

Particles made from iron oxide usually behave differently in magnetic field depending on their size. It was reported previously by several researchers [136,137] that abrupt changes in magnetic properties take place when the size of the particles are reduced from micrometer to nanometer range. For example, particles have superparamagnetic behaviour when the size are sufficiently small (i.e. 6-15 nm) and they behave as ferromagnetic when the grain size is in micrometer range. It was shown by Chatterjee et al. [23] that the magnetic behaviour is dependent on the blocking temperature of the particles (blocking temperature is the transition temperature between the ferrimagnetic and superparamagnetic state and is directly proportional to the size of the particles), which in turn is dependent on the size of the particles. Particles with lower blocking temperature exhibited superparamagnetic properties, whereas the higher blocking temperature of the particles showed the ferromagnetic behaviour of the particles.

Despite the increase in superparamagnetic behaviour of the particles with decrease in particle size, several authors have reported a decline in the absolute saturation magnetization values when the size of the particles is reduced to less than 10 nm [138,139]. Surface modification of the iron oxide nanoparticles usually leads to the formation of a non-magnetic shell due to the formation of particle outer layer and the thickness of such a layer could be in the order of 1-20 nm [140]. The coating of particles with non-magnetic materials may result in decrease in Ms values. Gomez-Lopera et al. [141] have found that surface coverage of poly(lactideco-glycolide) polymer on the iron oxide nanoparticles decreased the Ms of particles to about one-half of that of the pure magnetite and the initial magnetizationmagnetic field dependence is steeper in this case. Voit et al. [142] also observed similar results. They studied the magnetic behaviour of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles in ferrofluids coated with different polymers such as sodium oleate, polyvinylalcohol (PVA) or starch. They found that surface coverage of the iron oxide with either of these polymer resulted in decreased saturation magnetization values of the particles. They also observed that the values of particle sizes calculated from the magnetization data are found to be lower than the values calculated by XRD and TEM measurements,

which may be attributed to a magnetically ineffective layer on the particle surface [143].

4. Applications of magnetic nanoparticles

4.1. Cellular labelling/cell separation

Cell labelling with ferro/paramagnetic substances is an increasingly common method for in vivo cell separation [144] as the labelled cells can be detected by MRI [145]. Most current labelling techniques utilize either of two approaches: (a) attaching magnetic particles to the cell surface [146] or (b) internalizing biocompatible magnetic particles by fluid phase endocytosis [147], receptor-mediated endocytosis [148] or phagocytosis [149]. One strategy for efficient and specific cell labelling of magnetic particles is to modify the nanoparticle surface with a ligand that is efficiently taken up by target cells via receptor-mediated endocytosis [148,150]. A variety of potential ligands have been conjugated to nanoparticle surfaces to facilitate receptor-mediated endocytosis of the particles, including monoclonal antibodies (Mabs) [149]. Targeting agents such as transferrin, lactoferrin, albumin, insulin and growth factors, etc., have been demonstrated to preferentially target cell surface, because the receptors for these ligands are frequently overexpressed on the surface of mammalian cells [151,152]. These receptors are not only cellular markers, but also have been shown to efficiently internalize molecules coupled to these receptors [152]. Furthermore, many of these ligands are stable, and generally poorly immunogenic.

In the absence of any system to inhibit endocytosis, most nanoparticles are endocytosed by cells and eventually sequestered in digestive vacuoles in the cell. Once the particles are endocytosed, they are probably removed from contact with specific cell surface receptors and become effectively ineffective. As a result of these events, the cells are at high risk of apoptosis from overload with particles. If the particles can be prevented from leaving the cell surface, they will remain in contact with their specific receptors and would be expected to leave the cell in a state of prolonged stimulation while protecting the cells from side effects due to endocytosis [153].

In recent studies [31,154,155], we have discovered a route to derivatizing superparamagnetic nanoparticles with various targeting proteins such as lactoferrin, transferrin, ceruloplasmin, etc., that bind strongly to surface receptors such that phagocytosis is inhibited (Fig. 6). We have prepared lactoferrin, ceruloplasmin and insulin derivatized superparamagnetic nanoparticles with cubic shape and size less than 20 nm having high magnetization values. These particles are characterized in vitro and their influence on human dermal fibroblasts



Fig. 6. Scheme of derivatization of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles either with targeting ligands such as lactoferrin (Lf) or ceruloplasmin (Cp) and their targeting to human fibroblasts. The derivatized nanoparticles act as cellular markers that are targeted at the surface receptors expressed on human fibroblasts surface without being internalized.

is assessed in terms of cell adhesion, viability, morphology and cytoskeleton organization using various techniques to observe cell-nanoparticle interaction, including light, fluorescence, scanning and transmission electron microscopy. The results obtained from electron microscopy studies showed that each nanoparticle type with different surface characteristics caused a distinctly different cell response (Fig. 7). The underivatized magnetic particles were internalized by the fibroblasts probably due to endocytosis, which resulted in disruption of the cell membrane and disorganized cell cytoskeleton. In contradiction, protein-coated nanoparticles attached to the cell membrane, most likely to the cell expressed receptors, and were not endocytosed. In these studies, we showed that the protein derivatization on nanoparticle surfaces makes the nanoparticles cell surface adhesive and inhibits the endocytosis. Confinement to the cell surface would provide a route that might allow removal of the particles from the cells after an appropriate residence time.

The detection of receptors for cytokines and haematopoietic factors typically of low-density associated with surfaces of cells is of great scientific interest [156]. Since cells can respond to cytokine stimulation even when the number of receptors is low, the importance of new techniques of high sensitivity for low-density receptor detection is evident. Adhesion is the basis behind many techniques for detecting immunospecific molecules on surfaces of cells and adhesive interactions can be investigated by using immunospecific particles as research tools [157,158]. Despite the predetermined affinity of probes to targets, the adhesion may be affected by steric hindrance, etc. Sometimes one-toone binding ratio between particles and target cells is expected but only negligibly labelled cells are found [159]. The frequency of bounding effect can be evaluated by adhesion curves representing the amount of cell-bound particles versus concentration of particles added or the number of target molecules on the surface of cells. In another approach, the cell-bound magnetic particles can be detected by measuring the magnetization of individual cells. The magnetism of cells can be determined by measuring the velocity of cells by the method of magnetophoresis in which the number of particles bound to a cell can be determined by measuring the velocity of the cell in magnetophoresis [159]. Using the method of magnetophoresis and Langmuir absorption theory, Tchikov et al. have evaluated the ligand-receptor interactions resulting from the adhesion of immunomagnetic particles to surfaces of target cells by counting the number of magnetically labelled cells [160]. As many as 200 tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor molecules per cell could be detected with streptavidincoated magnetic particles coupled to biotinylated TNF as ligand. With regard to the sensitivity of the labelling systems, historically streptavidin has been the most frequently used detector for biotin because of its very high affinity constant for biotin. Sensitivity of the streptavidin-biotin complex has been shown to be greater than the antigen-antibody system [160].

However, goat anti-biotin has been shown to be a rather more sensitive detector of biotin compared to streptavidin, e.g. when conjugated to gold particles [161]. The method of magnetophoresis using these labelling systems can be of importance in detecting the cell-bound ligands, with the sensitivity comparable to the biological sensitivity of cells responding to cytokine signalling. These systems may also serve as sensitive probes for evaluating the expression of low-density receptors on cells and more generally can be employed for investigations of adhesion events in biological systems.

Recently, many cell-resistant polymeric materials and coatings have been developed and utilized for peptide



immobilization to promote highly specific cell-ligand interactions with a very low background adhesive signal from adsorbed serum and cell-borne proteins. These materials include PEG, PEG-based hydrogels, polyacrylamide, PVP, dextran and PVA, etc. [162–165].

Although PEG is highly effective in promoting a low cell-binding surface, its utility for peptide grafting is limited because each surface-immobilized macromolecule has only one site available for ligand coupling, producing low surface concentrations of ligands. On the other hand, surface-bound dextran, which has more sites for protein grafting than PEG, has been shown to reduce protein adsorption on biomaterials as well as surface-grafted PEG [166].

One recent study suggested that surface-bound dextran on biomaterial surfaces should be biocompatible because it mimics the glycocalyx on cell surfaces [167]. Another studies conducted in order to find the biocompatibility of dextran have shown that the surface-immobilized dextran on biomaterials is quite stable in most tissue environment because dextran is resistant to dextranase-mediated degradation [168]. Dextrancoated materials do not degrade enzymatically in most tissues because dextranase, the enzyme that degrades dextran, is produced by bacteria and not by tissues [169].

Wilhelm et al. [170] have modified the maghemite nanoparticles by anionic maghemite nanoparticles (AMNP) to demonstrate that it is a highly versatile system suitable either for a high-efficiency non-specific cellular uptake mediated by adsorptive endocytosis, either for specific cell recognition allowed by the nanoparticle surface modification or for binding of a specific ligand. The authors have shown that bare anionic maghemite nanoparticles, free of any dextran coating, exhibit a surprisingly high level of cell internalization that is comparable with nanoparticles modified with Tat peptide [171] or encapsulated into dendrimers [172]. They interact strongly and nonspecifically with the plasma membrane due to their surface negative charge. This adsorption step, which appears to be ubiquitous, precedes the internalization step and governs the overall cell uptake. Alternatively, to induce receptor-mediated endocytosis pathway and cell-specific magnetic labelling, it is necessary to reduce the non-specific nanoparticle-cell membrane interactions and to force the recognition of the nanoparticles by the surface receptors.

Electrostatic interactions also govern the adsorption of the anionic nanoparticles onto the cell membrane [173]. It is known, however, that plasma membrane possesses large negatively charged domains, which should repel anionic nanoparticles. Comparatively, cationic sites are scarcer on the plasma membrane, but are revealed by the possible absorption of anionic ferritin [174], smaller charged markers such as anionized hemoundecapeptide [175] and eventually negatively charged liposomes (with typical size 100 nm) [176]. Wilhelm et al. have shown that as anionized ferritin, anionic maghemite nanoparticles bind on the cell surface in the form of clusters probably because of their repulsive interactions with the large negatively charged domains of the cell surface [170]. In addition, the nanoparticles already bound on the cell surface present a reduced charge density, that may favour their aggregation with other free nanoparticles. In their studies, authors have suggested that the high efficiency of anionic nanoparticle cell uptake seems to be related first to the non-specific process of nanoparticle adsorption on the cell membrane and second to the formation of nanoparticle clusters. Non-specific adsorptive pathway can be inhibited by steric hindrance, due to the coating of the AMNP surface with albumin or with dextran [170].

The most commonly used nanoparticles are dextran coated but do not present sufficient cellular uptake to enable cell tracking, probably because of a relatively inefficient fluid-phase endocytosis pathway. One strategy was to substitute the fluid phase endocytosis pathway to the more efficient receptor-mediated endocytosis pathway by coupling dextran-coated particles with specific ligands. Significant improvements in the magnetic labelling efficiency and versatility were achieved by the attachment of a transfection agent or a small peptide, known to facilitate cell internalization on the surface of nanoparticles [177]. Some authors exploited the ubiquitous transferrin receptor to shuttle transferrin-coupled dextran-coated particles into gliosarcoma cells [178] as well as into neural progenitor cells [179]. The cell capture of transferrin-coupled nanoparticles was two to four times higher compared to the dextran-coated particles and was dependent upon the level of cell expression of the transferrin receptors. These studies demonstrated the possibility of imaging a gene expression in vivo using targeted superparamagnetic nanoparticles [180]. However, the uptake efficiency remained limited by the number of cell membrane receptors. Another strategy was to combine superparamagnetic nanoparticles with a transmembrane permeabilization agent, known to facilitate the translocation of a wide variety of macromolecules into cells.

Fig. 7. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) (a–f) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) (g–l) pictures of human fibroblasts (a, g) control; and incubated with (b, h) with uncoated magnetic nanoparticles; (c, i) PEG-coated nanoparticles; (d, j) lactoferrin-derivatized nanoparticles; (e, k) ceruloplasmin-derivatized nanoparticles and (f, l) insulin-derivatized nanoparticles. Uncoated magnetic particles show vacuoles in cell body and distorted cell membranes. PEG-coated nanoparticles were internalized in huge amounts without being toxic, while protein-coated nanoparticles were not endocytosed and were found to attach at the cellular membranes (see arrows).

Some authors [181–183] performed the graft on crosslinked dextran-coated superparamagnetic nanoparticles, of a membrane-translocating signal peptide (e.g. HIV-1 Tat protein), known to freely travel through cellular and nucleic membranes and succeed in improving the magnetic labelling efficiency. MRI imaging was used to visualize gene expression by Moore et al. [184] by using human transferrin receptor, which is an endocytic receptor, that functions to internalize transferrin that acts as marker gene.

Recently, Nam et al. [185] have developed an ultrasensitive method for detecting protein analytes using magnetic particle probes. This system is based on magnetic microparticle probes with antibodies that specifically bind a target of interest such as prostatespecific antigen (PSA) and nanoparticle probes that are encoded with DNA that is unique to the protein target of interest and antibodies that can sandwich the target captured by the microparticle probes. Magnetic separation of the complexed probes and target followed by dehybridization of the oligonucleotides on the nanoparticle probe surface allows the determination of the presence of the target protein by identifying the oligonucleotide sequence released from the nanoparticle probe. In another study, the same group has reported a method that utilizes oligonucleotides as biochemical barcodes for detecting multiple protein structures such as immunoglobulin E in one solution [186]. The approach takes advantage of protein recognition elements such as dinitrophenyl (DNP) functionalized with oligonuclotide strands and the fact that hybridization events that result in aggregation of 13 nm gold nanoparticles can significantly alter their physical properties [187].

4.1.1. Detoxification of biological fluids

In an attempt to isolate living cells from biological fluids containing toxic substances by using cell surface antigens for cell nanoparticle binding, magnetic beads were coated with antibodies against epithelial surface antigens, specifically in nearly all these cases with epithelial specific antigens (ESA, clone VU-1D9) [188]. The size of these particles varied from 50 nm to a few microns, the matrix material was mostly silica and in some cases polystyrene. During incubation of a blood sample with beads coated with an epithelial specific antibody, the beads bind to the epithelial cells. The rosetted cells can then be purified by washing steps on a magnet rack. In all cases, the purity, recovery rate and condition of the isolated tumour cells depend on the number of washing steps, composition of used buffers and specification of the beads [189].

4.2. Tissue repair

Tissue repair using iron oxide nanoparticles is accomplished either through welding, apposing two

tissue surfaces then heating the tissues sufficiently to join them, or through soldering, where protein or synthetic polymer-coated nanoparticles are placed between two tissue surfaces to enhance joining of the tissues. Temperatures greater than 50 °C are known to induce tissue union [190]. This is believed to be induced by the denaturation of proteins and the subsequent entanglement of adjacent protein chains [190,191]. Nanoparticles that strongly absorb light corresponding to the output of a laser are also useful for tissue-repairing procedures. Specifically, gold- or silica-coated iron oxide nanoparticles have been designed to strongly absorb light [192,193]. The nanoparticles are coated onto the surfaces of two pieces of tissue at the site where joining was desired. This technique affords methods to minimize tissue damage by using the least harmful wavelengths of light and/or lower powered light sources.

Stem cells are the body's master cells and have a unique ability to renew themselves and give rise to other specialized cell types. These cells, therefore, have the potential to be used for transplantation purposes, for example, to replace degenerated cells or repairing of a damaged tissue, providing signals so that the stem cells can yield the appropriate cell types for the development of a tissue [194]. An obstacle to developing such therapy is a lack of targeting strategies on both neural stem cells and on the signals that determine their behaviour and fate for tissue development. The superparamagnetic nanoparticles could be coupled to the cells and used to target these cells at the desired site in the body. In addition, various proteins, growth factors, etc., could be bound to these nanoparticles that might be delivered at the damaged tissue, where it would play a role in tissue development. While there is no doubt that the use of stem cells in the form of cell-based therapies offers tremendous potential for disease treatment and cures for many common diseases including diabetes, cancer, heart disease, Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease, central to this process would be the ability to target and activate these stem cells at required sites of injury and repair using magnetic particle technology [195].

4.3. Drug delivery

Another possible and most promising application of these colloidal magnetic nanoparticles is in drug delivery as carriers of drug for site-specific delivery of drugs. Ideally, they could bear on their surface or in their bulk a pharmaceutical drug that could be driven to the target organ and released there. For these applications, the size, charge and surface chemistry of the magnetic particles are particularly important and strongly affect both the blood circulation time as well as bioavailability of the particles within the body [196]. In addition, magnetic properties and internalization of particles depend strongly on the size of the magnetic particles [23]. For example, following systemic administration, larger particles with diameters greater than 200 nm are usually sequestered by the spleen as a result of mechanical filtration and are eventually removed by the cells of the phagocyte system, resulting in decreased blood circulation times. On the other hand, smaller particles with diameters of less than 10 nm are rapidly removed through extravasations and renal clearance. Particles ranging from ca. 10 to 100 nm are optimal for intravenous injection and demonstrate the most prolonged blood circulation times. The particles in this size range are small enough both to evade RES of the body as well as penetrate the very small capillaries within the body tissues and therefore may offer the most effective distribution in certain tissues [24].

Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles of narrow size range are easily produced and coated with various polymers, providing convenient, readily targetable magnetic resonance imaging agents. Because of the large surface area to volume ratio, the magnetic nanoparticles tend to agglomerate and adsorb plasma proteins. The body's reticuloendothelial system (RES), mainly the kupffer cells in the liver, usually take up these nanoparticles due to the hydrophobic surface. Surface coverage by amphiphilic polymeric surfactants such as poloxamers, poloxamines and poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) derivatives over the nanoparticles significantly increases the blood circulation time by minimizing or eliminating the protein adsorption to the nanoparticles [197].

In an attempt to resist the protein adsorption and thus avoid the particle recognition by macrophage cells and to facilitate the intracellular uptake by specific cancer cells for cancer therapy and diagnosis, superparamagnetic magnetite nanoparticles were surface modified with PEG by Zhang et al. [198]. By the inductively coupled plasma emission spectroscopy (ICP) measurements, the authors have shown that the uptake amount of PEG-modified nanoparticles into mouse macrophage (RAW 264.7) cells was much lower than that of unmodified nanoparticles. However, for breast cancer (BT20) cells, PEG modification facilitated the nanoparticles internalization into the cells. The possible mechanism for this uptake is that PEG can dissolve in both polar and non-polar solvents and have high solubility in cell membranes [199].

Widder et al. [200] demonstrated the utility of magnetic albumin microspheres (MM-ADR) in animal tumour models. Significantly greater responses, both in terms of tumour size and animal survival, were achieved with MM-ADR than adriamycin alone. Gupta et al. [201] demonstrated that the efficacy of magnetic microspheres in the targeted delivery of incorporated drug is predominantly due to the magnetic effects and not due to the particle's size or nonmagnetic holding. The ultrastructural disposition of adriamycin-associated magnetic albumin microspheres was also demonstrated in normal rats by Gallo et al. [202]. The transmission electron micrographs showed extravascular transport of microspheres as early as 2h after dosing and were observed and remained in the extravascular tissue for up to 72 h. Since the drug delivery device was retained in the vascular endothelium of the target tissue for up to 72 h, it was suggested that the microspheres might act as a depot from which the drug is released. Magnetic microspheres were designed to avoid rapid RES clearance that is problematic for other particulate carriers. Magnetic microspheres are usually injected into the arterial supply of the target organ to take advantage of first-pass organ extraction. Because these particles are smaller than 1 µm in diameter, they are able to pass through target capillaries, prior to systemic clearance. As the magnetic particles traverse the target organ capillaries, an external magnetic field can retain the particles in small arterioles and capillaries. Retained particles may undergo extravascular uptake, which could ultimately lead to intracellular (i.e., tumour cell) drug uptake [203].

Fine ferromagnetic particles have been coated with poly(ethylene glycol)/amino or carboxyl groups to permit the covalent attachment of proteins, glycoproteins, and other ligands with the retention of biological activity. Ferromagnetic particles have also been used for various in vivo applications such as a tracer of blood flow, in radionuclide angiography, and for use in inducing clotting in arteriovenous malformations. Zimmermann et al. [204] were the first to propose that erythrocytes or lymphocytes containing fine ferromagnetic particles could be propelled to a desired site by an external magnetic field. It was demonstrated by Freeman and Geer [205] that iron particles could pass through capillaries when properly conditioned and later confirmed by Meyers et al. [206], who showed that iron particles could be magnetically controlled in the vascular system of experimental animals. There have been no previous investigations to examine the ability of magnetic microspheres to deliver drugs to brain tumours; however, there have been two investigations in normal rats [207]. Following administration of magnetic microspheres containing oxantraxole, the brain contained 100-400 times higher oxantrazole levels than those obtained after the solution dosage form, indicating the successfulness of drug delivery via magnetic microspheres. It was evident from these studies that under proper conditions, magnetic microspheres were capable of enhancing total brain concentrations.

A number of authors (see, e.g., Refs. [208–210]) have described the preparation of particles or liposomes containing a certain amount of magnetite or other ferrites. Some of them have focused on the field of drug transport and release: thus, the use of albumin with entrapped magnetite has been checked for the release of anti-cancer drugs like mitomicin and adriamicin [211,212]. However, albumin has the disadvantage of provoking a possible immune response [213], so interest has been progressively focused on magnetite particles covered with a shell of polylactide/glycolide. However, the possible adverse effects of the presence of inorganic particles in the body as magnetite must also be taken into consideration. Experiments performed ex vivo on the toxicity of magnetite or magnetite-loaded polymeric particles have demonstrated that the latter have rather low cytotoxicity [214], and magnetite itself has much adverse effects [215]. Nevertheless, care must be taken with the particle size of the carriers: any fraction larger than 5 μ m must be avoided in order to prevent capillary blockade.

Gomez-Lopera et al. [141] have described a method for preparing colloidal particles formed by a magnetite nucleus and a biodegradable poly(DL-lactide) polymer coating. The method is based on the so-called double emulsion technique, employed to obtain polymeric spheres loaded with therapeutic drugs, to be used as drug delivery vectors. The aim of this work was to obtain, in a reproducible and rather simple way, colloidal particles that were both magnetic field responsive, and useful as drug delivery systems. In order to investigate to what extent this target is achieved, they have compared the structure, chemical composition, and surface properties of the composite particles with those of the nucleus and the coating material, simple molecules to macromolecules, cells, or other colloids. Considerable work that demonstrates that biodegradable polymers are ideal as drug carriers because of their minimum toxicity and immunological response has been performed [216-218].

The attachment of drugs to magnetic nanoparticles can be used to reduce drug doses and potential side effects to healthy tissues and the costs associated with drug treatment. Most iron oxides have a relatively short blood half-life and their primary application is for imaging of liver, spleen and the GI tract. Surfacemodified iron oxide nanoparticles having long blood circulation times, however, may prove very useful for imaging of the vascular compartment (magnetic resonance angiography), imaging of lymph nodes, perfusion imaging, receptor imaging and target specific imaging [219].

4.4. Magnetic resonance imaging

Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles play an important role as MRI contrast agents, to better differentiate healthy and pathological tissues. Recent developments in MR imaging have enabled in vivo imaging at near microscopic resolution [220]. In order to visualize and track stem and progenitor cells by MR imaging, it is necessary to tag cells magnetically. Tat protein-derived peptide sequences have recently been used as an efficient way of internalizing a number of marked proteins into cells [221]. Lewin et al. hypothesized that biocompatible magnetic particles could be derivatized with similar sequences and that entire particles could be efficiently ferried into haematopoietic and neural progenitor cells in quantities upto 10–30 pg of superparamagnetic iron per cells [222]. Iron incorporation did not affect cell viability, differentiation, or proliferation of CD34⁺ cells. Following intravenous injection into immunodeficient mice, 4% of magnetically CD34⁺ cells homed to bone marrow per gram of tissue, and single cells could be detected by MRI in tissue samples. In addition, magnetically labelled cells that had homed to the bone marrow could be recovered by magnetic separation columns.

Weissleder et al. [223] have presented the evidence that transgene expression can be visualized noninvasively by MRI in vivo. The authors have conjugated human holo-transferrin to iron oxide nanoparticles and showed that increase in receptor levels at the cell surface can cause considerable changes in MRI signals. These superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles are relatively non-toxic when administered intravenously, and similar preparations are in clinical use [224], and as the iron oxide core is biodegradable, iron oxide nanoparticle degradation theoretically will allow multiple imaging of transgene expression over time.

The availability of a universal MR marker gene to image gene expression could be particularly important in monitoring gene therapy, in which exogeneous genes are introduced to ameliorate a genetic defect or to add an additional gene function to cells, and construction and testing of such vectors is currently under way. The desired strategy can also be used to image endogenous gene expression during development and pathogenesis of disease. With advances in establishing transgenic mouse models, an animal line might be developed with an imaging marker gene under the control of a given promoter under study, so that the promoter activity can be directly visualized. The work opens an exciting avenue for developing additional and complementary strategies to image gene expression in deep organs by MRI [225].

Magnetic nanoparticles have been used to detect apoptosis by MRI by Zhao et al. [226]. Apoptosis is an active process of cellular self-destruction that plays an important role in number of disorders including neurodegenerative diseases, cerebral and myocardial ischaemia and organ rejection following transplant [227]. Therapeutic treatment of tumour cells in vivo results in changes in MR image contrast that are thought to reflect the morphological features of apoptosis, such as cell shrinkage and membrane blebbing [228]. The C2 domain of synaptotagmin I, which binds to anionic phospholipids in cell membranes, was shown to bind to the plasma membrane of apoptotic cells by both flow cytometry and confocal microscopy. Administration of C_2 -SPION can lead to significant increases in image contrast in those regions of a tumour containing relatively large number of apoptotic cells. The authors showed that conjugation of the protein to SPION allowed detection of this binding using MRI. Specific detection of apoptotic cells using this contrast agent was demonstrated both in vitro, with isolated apoptotic tumour cells and in vivo in a tumour treated with chemotherapeutic drugs [229].

The MRI technique can detect apoptosis at an early stage in the process and has the advantages over other methods such as magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) and radionuclide techniques, that it can detect apoptotic regions with relatively high spatial resolution. The SPION label is highly sensitive to MR detection and is also relatively non-toxic. SPION has been approved for clinical use as a blood pool agent for MRI [230].

4.5. Hyperthermia

The use of hyperthermia (heat) in the treatment of malignant tumours is as old as medicine itself. For example, Hippocrates, the father of medicine, proposed that surface tumours should be cauterized by application of hot iron. In modern times, more advanced methods (hot water bath, pyrogens such as mixed bacterial toxins, perfusion heating, high-frequency radiation, magnetic fluid hyperthermia) were employed to heat, and hopefully destroy, tumours [231].

Magnetic induction hyperthermia, one of the therapies for cancer treatment, means the exposition of cancer tissues to an alternating magnetic field. Magnetic field is not absorbed by the living tissues and can be applied to deep region in the living body. When magnetic particles are subjected to a variable magnetic field, some heat is generated due to magnetic hysteresis loss. The amount of heat generated depends on the nature of magnetic material and of magnetic field parameters. Magnetic particles embedded around a tumour site and placed within an oscillating magnetic field will heat up to a temperature dependent on the magnetic properties of the material, the strength of the magnetic field, the frequency of oscillation and the cooling capacity of the blood flow in the tumour site. Cancer cells are destroyed at temperature higher than 43 °C, whereas the normal cells can survive at higher temperatures. Heat could be generated applying an appropriate magnetic field. The size of the magnetite crystals is submicrometric, so the powders or bulk of these biomaterials have comparable properties. These materials are not only biocompatible, but also bioactive and could be useful for bone tumours [232].

Much work using magnetic particles for hyperthermia has already been done in order to manifest a therapeutic effect on several types of tumours by performing experiments with animals [233] or using cancerous cell cultures [234].

Choosing high-power magnetic particles combined with appropriate external magnetic field, very small amounts of magnetic fine particles in the order of tenth of milligram may easily be used to raise the temperature of biological tissue locally up to cell necrosis. It was shown that hyperthermia greatly enhances cytotoxicity of radiation and drug treatment with brain tumour cell lines, which were also confirmed by multimodel hyperthermia studies with rat, rabbits and dogs [235]. Toxicity studies revealed a maximum tolerable thermal dose of normal brain in dogs to be 44 °C, 30 min, using interstitial microwave antennas. Known side effects of hyperthermia in animal experiments are cerebral necrosis, oedema, focal haemorrhage and infarction. A breakdown of the blood-brain barrier is observed at temperatures of 42.5-43 °C, 60 min. Clinical studies performed so far have shown that interstitial brain hyperthermia is feasible and that toxicity is acceptable under careful control of the heating and limitation of the target volume.

Differential endocytosis of modified aminosilan magnetite nanoparticles into primary glioblastoma cells, but not in normal glial cells in vitro, has been reported previously by Jordan et al. [236]. In this study, authors observed a 10-fold higher uptake by glioblastoma cells than by normal cells. Further new aminosilan-type nanoparticles were taken up by prostate carcinoma cells but not by normal prostate cells, endothelial cells or fibroblasts in vitro. Preliminary data indicate that the malignant cells take up nine times more particles than normal cells. Wada et al. have proved the usefulness of dextran magnetite (DM) for the oral cancer hyperthermia. DM suspension was locally injected into the tumour-bearing tongue and tongues were heated up to 43.0–45.0 °C, by an AC magnetic field of 500 kHz. They found that the inhibition of the growth of tongue carcinoma in the four-time heating group was significantly greater than in the control group. Moreover, the survival rate was significantly higher in the heated groups than in the control group. Histological examination revealed a brown uniform DM accumulation at the stroma in the margin of the tumours. Many of the tumour cells disappeared at the site adjacent to this accumulation [237].

Heat-induced therapeutic gene expression is highly desired for gene therapy to minimize side effects. Furthermore, if the gene expression is triggered by heat stress, combined therapeutic effects of hyperthermia and gene therapy may be possible. Ito et al. [238] combined $TNF-\alpha$ gene therapy driven by the stress-inducible promoter, gadd 153, with hyperthermia using magnetite cationic liposomes (MCLs). In nude mice, MCLs induced cell death throughout much of the tumour area on heating under an alternating magnetic field. This heat stress also resulted in a 3-fold increase in *TNF*- α gene expression driven by the *gadd* 153 promoter as compared with that of nonheated tumour. The combined treatment strongly arrested tumour growth in nude mice over a 30-day period, suggesting the potential for cancer treatment [238].

4.6. Magnetofection

Magnetofection (MF) is a method in which magnetic nanoparticles associated with vector DNA are transfected into cells by the influence of an external magnetic field. For this purpose, magnetic particles might be coated with the polycation polyethylenimine. These complexes readily associate with negatively charged DNA since the magnetic particles are positively charged due to the polyethylenimine. Whether viral or nonviral vectors, MF has been shown to enhance the efficiency of the vectors up to several thousand times [239]. For magnetically enhanced nucleic acid delivery, MF is universally applicable to viral and non-viral vectors, because it is extraordinarily rapid, simple and yields saturation level transfection at low dose in vitro [240]. Further, since these magnetic particles do not rely on receptors or other cell membrane-bound proteins for cell uptake, it is possible to transfect cells that normally are non-permissive [239].

Krotz et al. [241] have recently used MF to enhance gene transfer to cultured primary endothelial cells. MF of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) increased transfection efficiency of a luciferase reporter gene up to 360-fold compared to various conventional transfection systems. In contrast, there was only 1.6-fold increase in toxicity caused by MF, suggesting that the advantages of MF outbalanced the increase in toxicity. The authors suggested that MF could be an effective tool for pDNA transfection of endothelial cells allowing high efficiencies of transfection. In another study [242], the same authors have utilized the technique of MF to enhance ODN delivery at low toxicity and procedure time in vitro and in vivo. In vitro, target knockout was assessed at protein and mRNA levels and by measuring superoxide generation after antisense MF against the p22(phox) subunit of endothelial NAD(P)H-oxidase. Antisense MF against p22(phox) significantly decreased basal and prevented stimulated superoxide release due to loss of NAD(P)H-oxidase activity by mRNA knockout as assessed after 24 h.

5. Concluding remarks and future directions

The concept of drug delivery using magnetic nanoparticles greatly benefit from the fact that nanotechnology has developed to a stage that it makes possible not only to produce magnetic nanoparticles in a very narrow size distribution range with superparamagnetic properties but also to engineer particle surfaces to provide sitespecific delivery of drugs. Magnetite due to its strong magnetic properties was used first in biology and then in medicine for the magnetic separation of biological products and cells as well as magnetic guidance of particle systems for site-specific drug delivery. The size, charge, and surface chemistry of magnetic particles could strongly influence their biodistribution. Another important point is that the magnetic properties depend strongly on the size of the magnetic particles. In the last decade, the activities in the clinical applications of magnetic carriers and magnetic particles have been very high, because the needs of better diagnostics procedures on one side and better treatment modalities are, on the other hand, strongly increasing.

The most relevant biomedical applications for these particles may be targeted at healthcare for the aged peoples and in particular at diseases of the musculoskeletal system. Many of these diseases are characterized by severe inflammation, disability and pain and the better control of inflammation is an important goal to which magnetic nanoparticles may contribute to a great extent. Precise delivery of anti-inflammatory drugs to the exact area of inflammation is a desirable end since this could lead to reduced drug dosages, elimination of side effects on the other healthy tissues and increased rapidity of action. Application of external magnetic fields to the area of inflammation, e.g. a joint, while the particles are to be targeted may provide an important component of such treatments. If successful, this type of treatment could be used to treat autoimmune diseases, direct immunosuppressive drugs to where they are needed in transplant patients and patients with tumours. Attachment of specific antibodies to the particles may allow particles to target specific cell types i.e. macrophages having receptors expressed on their surfaces. Inflammation could then be modified by using magnetic fields to focus the macrophages or divert them away from tissue if appropriate. This kind of application also includes other biological applications, e.g. cell separation, in which the improvement of the success rate is of importance for the classification and further surely handling of cells. Successful development in this area will aid the growth of the biomedical industry as well as improving the quality of life in the population.

References

- Moghimi SM, Hunter ACH, Murray JC. Long-circulating and target-specific nanoparticles: theory to practice. Pharm Rev 2001;53:283–318.
- [2] Curtis ASG, Wilkinson C. Nanotechniques and approaches in biotechnology. Trends Biotech 2001;19:97–101.
- [3] Wilkinson JM. Nanotechnology applications in medicine. Med Device Technol 2003;14(5):29–31.

- [4] Panyam J, Labhasetwar V. Biodegradable nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to cells and tissue. Adv Drug Del Rev 2003; 55:329–47.
- [5] Siegel RW. In: Siegel RW, Hu E, Roco MC, editors. Nanostructure science and technology. A worldwide study. WTEC, Loyola College in Maryland; 1999.
- [6] Uchegbu IF, Florence AT. Adverse drug events related to dosage forms and delivery systems. Drug Saf 1996;14(1):39–67.
- [7] Gilchrist RK, Medal R, Shorey WD, Hanselman RC, Parrot JC, Taylor CB. Selective inductive heating of lymph nodes. Ann Surg 1957;146:596–606.
- [8] Schwertmann U, Cornell RM. Iron oxides in the laboratory: preparation and characterization. Weinheim, Cambridge: VCH; 1991.
- [9] Cornelis K, Hurlburt CS. Manual of Mineralogy. New York: Wiley; 1977.
- [10] Kwei GH, von Dreele RB, Williams A, Goldstone JA, Lawson II AC, Warburton WK. Structure and valence from complementary anomalous X-ray and neutron powder diffraction. J Molecul Struct 1990;223:383–406.
- [11] Babincova M, et al. High-gradient magnetic capture of ferrofluids: implications for drug targeting and tumor immobilization. Z Naturforsch (Sect C) 2001;56:909–11.
- [12] Wang YX, Hussain SM, Krestin GP. Superparamagnetic iron oxide contrast agents: physicochemical characteristics and applications in MR imaging. Eur Radiol 2001;11:2319–31.
- [13] Bonnemain B. Superparamagnetic agents in magnetic resonance imaging: physiochemical characteristics and clinical applications—a review. J Drug Target 1998;6:167–74.
- [14] Babes L, Denizot B, Tanguy G, Le Jeune JJ, Jallet P. Synthesis of iron oxide nanoparticles used as MRI contrast agents: a parametric study. J Coll Int Sci 1999;212:474–82.
- [15] Goya GF, Berquo TS, Fonseca FC. Static and dynamic magnetic properties of spherical magnetite nanoparticles. J Appl Phys 2003;94(5):3520–8.
- [16] Arbab AS, Bashaw LA, Miller BR, Jordan EK, Lewis BK, Kalish H, Frank JA. Characterization of biophysical and metabolic properties of cells labeled with superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles and transfection agent for cellular MR imaging. Radiology 2003;229(3):838–46.
- [17] Reimer P, Weissleder R. Development and experimental application of receptor-specific MR contrast media. Radiology 1996;36:153–63.
- [18] Pankhurst QA, Connolly J, Jones SK, Dobson J. Applications of magnetic nanoparticles in biomedicine. J Phys D: Appl Phys 2003;36:R167–81.
- [19] Häfeli U, Schütt W, Teller J, Zborowski M, editors. Scientific and clinical applications of magnetic carriers. New York: Plenum Press; 1997.
- [20] Berry CC, Curtis ASG. Functionalisation of magnetic nanoparticles for applications in biomedicine. J Phys D: Appl Phys 2003; 36:R198–206.
- [21] Tartaj P, Morales MP, Veintemillas-Verdaguer S, González-Carreño T, Serna CJ. The preparation of magnetic nanoparticles for applications in biomedicine. J Phys D: Appl Phys 2003; 36:R182–97.
- [22] Jordan A, Scholz R, Maier-Hauff K, Johannsen M, Wust P, Nadobny J, Schirra H, Schmidt H, Deger S, Loening S, Lanksch W, Felix R. Presentation of a new magnetic field therapy system for the treatment of human solid tumors with magnetic fluid hyperthermia. J Magn Magn Mater 2001;225:118–26.
- [23] Chatterjee J, Haik Y, Chen C-J. Size dependent magnetic properties of iron oxide nanoparticles. J Magn Magn Mater 2003;257(1):113–8.
- [24] Pratsinis SE, Vemury S. Particle formation in gases—a review. Powder Technol 1996;88:267.

- [25] Stolnik S, Illum L, Davis SS. Long circulating microparticulate drug carriers. Adv Drug Del Rev 1995;16:195–214.
- [26] Kodas TT, Hampden-Smith M. Aerosol processing of materials. New York: Wiley-VCH; 1999.
- [27] Lee CS, Lee H, Westervelt RM. Microelectromagnets for the control of magnetic nanoparticles. Appl Phys Lett 2001;79(20):3308–10.
- [28] Rishton A, Lu Y, Altman RA, Marley AC, Bian Hahnes C, Viswanathan R, Xiao G, Gallagher WJ, Parkin SSP. Magnetic tunnel junctions fabricated at tenth-micron dimensions by electron beam lithography. Microelectron Eng 1997;35:249.
- [29] Gupta AK, Wells S. Surface modified superparamagnetic nanoparticles for drug delivery: preparation, characterisation and cytotoxicity studies. IEEE Trans Nanobiosci 2004;3(1): 66–73.
- [30] Charles SW. Magnetic fluids (ferrofluids). In: Dormann JL, Fiorani D, editors. Magnetic properties of fine particles. North-Holland: Elsevier; 1992. p. 267–374.
- [31] Gupta AK, Curtis ASG. Lactoferrin and ceruloplasmin derivatized superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for targeting cell surface receptors. Biomaterials 2004;25(15):3029–40.
- [32] Reimers GW, Khalafalla SE. Preparing magnetic fluids by a peptizing method. US Bureau Mines Tech Rep 1972;59.
- [33] Hadjipanayis GC, Siegel RW. Nanophase materials: synthesis, properties and applications. NATO ASI Series, Applied Sciences, vol. E260. Dordrecht: Kluwer; 1993.
- [34] Sjogren CE, Briley-Saebo K, Hanson M, Johansson C. Magnetic characterization of iron oxides for magnetic resonance imaging. Magn Reson Med 1994;31(3):268–72.
- [35] Cornell RM, Schertmann U. Iron oxides in the laboratory; preparation and characterization. Weinheim: VCH; 1991.
- [36] Cotton FA, Wilkinson G. In: Advanced inorganic chemistry. New York: Wiley Interscience; 1988.
- [37] Kim DK, Zhang Y, Voit W, Rao KV, Muhammed M. Synthesis and characterization of surfactant-coated superparamagnetic monodispersed iron oxide nanoparticles. J Magn Magn Mater 2001;225(1–2):30–6.
- [38] Boistelle R, Astier JP. Crystallization mechanisms in solution. J Cryst Growth 1988;90:14–30.
- [39] Banfield JF, Welch SA, Zhang H, Ebert TT, Penn RL. Aggregation-based crystal growth and microstructure development in natural iron oxyhydroxide biomineralization products. Science 2000;289(5480):751–4.
- [40] Penn RL, Banfield JF. Imperfect oriented attachment: dislocation generation in defect-free nanocrystals. Science 1998; 281(5379):969–71.
- [41] Penn RL, Banfield JF. Morphology development and crystal growth in nanocrystalline aggregates under hydrothermal conditions: insights from titania. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 1999; 63:1549–57.
- [42] Chemseddine A, Moritz T. Nanostructuring Titania: control over nanocrystal structure, size, shape, and organization. Eur J Inorg Chem 1999;2:235–45.
- [43] Verges MA, Mifsud A, Serna CJ. Formation of rod-like zinc oxide microcrystals in homogenous solutions. J Chem Soc Faraday Trans 1990;86:959.
- [44] Taylor AP, Barry JC, Webb RI. Structural and morphological anomalies in magnetosomes: possible biogenic origin for magnetite in ALH84001. J Microsc 2001;201(1):84.
- [45] Zhou WL, Wang K-Y, O'Connor CJ, Tang J. Granular growth of Fe_3O_4 thin films and its antiphase boundaries prepared by pulsed laser deposition. J Appl Phys 2001;89(11): 7398–400.
- [46] Kim DK, Zhang Y, Voit W, Rao KV, Kehr J, Bjelke B, Muhammed M. Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for bio-medical applications. Scr Mater 2001;44:1713–7.

- [47] Binh VT, Purcell ST, Semet V, Feschet F. Nanotips and nanomagnetism. Appl Surf Sci 1998;130–132:803–14.
- [48] Coey J. Noncollinear spin arrangement in ultrafine ferrimagnetic crystallites. Phys Rev Lett 1971;27:1140–3.
- [49] Varanda LC, Jafelicci Jr P, O'Grady K, González-Carreño T, Morales MP, Muñoz T, Serna CJ. Structural and magnetic transformation of monodispersed iron oxide particles in a reducing atmosphere. J Appl Phys 2002;92(4):2079.
- [50] Held GA, Grinstein G, Doyle H, Sun S, Murray CB. Competing interactions in dispersions of superparamagnetic nanoparticles. Phys Rev 2001;B 64:12408.
- [51] Collier JH, Messersmith PB. Biomimetic mineralization, mesoporous structures, Encyclopedia Mater Sci Technol 2001;602–6.
- [52] Sinha A, Das SK, Rao V, Ramachandrarao P. Synthesis of organized inorganic crystal assemblies. Curr Sci 2000;79(5): 646–8.
- [53] Rosensweig RE. Ferrohydrodynamics. Cambridge: 1985.
- [54] Tillotson TM, Gash AE, Simpson RL, Hrubesh LW, Satcher JH. Nanostructured energetic materials using sol–gel methodologies. J Non-Cryst Solids 2001;285:335–8.
- [55] Ziolo RF, Giannelis EP, Weinstein BA, O'Horo MP, Ganguly BN, Mehrotra V, Russell MW, Huffman DR. Matrix mediated synthesis of γ-Fe₂O₃: a new optically transparent magnetic material. Science 1992;257:219–23.
- [56] Deng Y, Wang L, Yang W, Fu S, Elaiessari A. Preparation of magnetic polymeric particles via inverse microemulsion polymerization process. J Magn Magn Mater 2003;257(1): 69–78.
- [57] Santra S, Tapec R, Theodoropoulou N, Dobson J, Hebard A, Tan W. Synthesis and characterization of silica-coated iron oxide nanoparticles in microemulsion: the effect of non-ionic surfactants. Langmuir 2001;17:2900–6.
- [58] Li S, Irwin G, Simmons B, John V, McPherson G, Bose A. Structured materials synthesis in a self-assembled surfactant mesophase. Colloids Surf A 2000;174:275.
- [59] Okamura Y, Takeyama H, Matsunaga T. A magnetosomespecific GTPase from the magnetic bacterium *Magnetospirillum magneticum* AMB-1. J Biol Chem 2001;276(51):48183–8.
- [60] Yaacob I, Nunes AC, Bose A, Shah DO. Synthesis and characterization of magnetic nanoparticles in spontaneously generated vesicles. J Coll Int Sci 1994;168:289–301.
- [61] Bagwe RP, Kanicky JR, Palla BJ, Patanjali PK, Shah DO. Improved drug delivery using microemulsions: rationale, recent progress, and new horizons. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst 2001;18(1):77–140.
- [62] Lawrence MJ. Surfactant systems: microemulsions and vesicles as vehicles for drug delivery. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 1994;19(3):257–69.
- [63] Lawrence MJ, Rees GD. Microemulsion-based media as novel drug delivery systems. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 45(1) 89–121.
- [64] Fendler JH. Atomic and molecular clusters in membrane mimetic chemistry. Chem Rev 1987;87:877–99.
- [65] Sugimoto T. Preparation of monodispersed colloidal particles. Adv Coll Int Sci 1987;28:65.
- [66] Luisi PL, Straub B, editors. Biological and technological relevance of reversed micelles and other amphiphilic structures in apolar media. New York: Plenum; 1983. p. 73–80.
- [67] Tang J, Myers M, Bosnick KA, Brus LE. Magnetite Fe₃O₄ nanocrystals: spectroscopic observation of aqueous oxidation kinetics. J Phys Chem B 2003;107:7501–6.
- [68] Muller BW, Muller RH. Particle size distributions and particle size alterations in microemulsions. J Pharm Sci 1984;73(7): 919–22.
- [69] Munshi N, De TK, Maitra A. Size modulation of polymeric nanoparticles under controlled dynamics of microemulsion droplets. J Colloid Interface Sci 1997;190(2):387–91.

- [70] Igartua M, Saulnier P, Heurtault B, Pech B, Proust JE, Pedraz JL, Benoit JP. Development and characterization of solid lipid nanoparticles loaded with magnetite. Int J Pharm 2002;233: 149–57.
- [71] Bhandarkar S, Bose A. Synthesis of nanocomposite particles by intravesicular coprecipitation. J Coll Int Sci 1990;139:541–50.
- [72] Shibli SM, Dantas ALL, Bee A. The effect of the ferrofluid magnetic particle concentration on the thermal diffusivity. Braz J Phys 2001;31(3):418–22.
- [73] Yaacob I, Nunes AC, Bose A. Magnetic nanoparticles produced in spontaneous cationic–anionic vesicles—room temperature synthesis and characterization. J Coll Interf Sci 1995;171:73–84.
- [74] Bailey RL. Lesser known applications of ferrofluids. J Magn Magn Mater 1983;39:178–82.
- [75] Charles SW, Popplewell J. Progress in the development of ferromagnetic liquids. IEEE Trans Magn 1980;16(2):172–7.
- [76] Khalafalla SE, Reimers GW. Preparation of dilution-stable aqueous magnetic fluids. IEEE Trans Magnet 1980;16(2):178–83.
- [77] Hamley IW. Nanotechnology with soft materials. Angew Chem Int Ed 2003;42:1692–712.
- [78] Tepper T, Ilievski F, Ross CA, Zaman TR, Ram RJ, Sung SY, Stadler BJH. Magneto-optical properties of iron oxide films. J Appl Phys 2003;93(10):6948–50.
- [79] Mendenhall GD, Geng Y, Hwang J. Optimization of long-term stability of magnetic fluids from magnetite and synthetic polyelectrolytes. J Coll Interf Sci 1996;184(2):519–26.
- [80] Salzman EW. Polyethyleneglycol oxide as a biomaterial. Am J Soc Artif Intern Organs 1983;6:60–72.
- [81] Yu J, Lee C-W, Im S-S, Lee J-S. Structure and magnetic properties of SiO₂ coated Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles synthesized by chemical vapor condensation process. Rev Adv Mater Sci 2003;4:55–9.
- [82] Liz-Marzán LM, Kamat PV. Nanoscale Materials. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 2003.
- [83] Miller E, Peppas NA, Winslow DN. Morphological changes of ethylene/vinyl acetate based on controlled delivery systems during release of water-soluble solutes. J Memb Sci 1983; 14:79–92.
- [84] Zhao X, Harris JM. Novel degradable poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels for controlled release of protein. J Pharm Sci 1998; 87(11):1450–8.
- [85] Ruiz JM, Benoit JP. In vivo peptide release from poly(lactic-coglycolic acid) copolymer 50/50 microspheres. J Cont Rel 1991;16:177–86.
- [86] Li JK, Wang N, Wu XE. A novel biodegradable system based on gelatin nanoparticles and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres for protein and peptide drug delivery. J Pharm Sci 1997; 86(8):891–5.
- [87] Akiyoshi K, Sunmoto J. Supramolecular assembly of hydrophobized polysaccharides. Supramol Sci 1996;3:157–63.
- [88] Jeong Y, Nah J-W, Na K, Cho CS, Kim SH. Self assembling nanospheres of hydrophobized pullulans in water. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 1999;25(8):917–27.
- [89] Schwick HG, Heide K. Immunochemistry and immunology of collagen and gelatin. Bibliotheca Haematol 1969;3:111–25.
- [90] Massia SP, Stark J, Letbetter DS. Surface immobilized dextran limits cell adhesion and spreading. Biomaterials 2000;21: 2253–61.
- [91] Denizot B, Tanguy G, Hindre F, Rump E, Jeune J, Jallet P. Phosphorylcholine coating of iron oxide nanoparticles. J Coll Interf Sci 1999;209(1):66–71.
- [92] Dresco PA, Zaitsev VS, Gambino RJ, Chu B. Preparation and properties of magnetite and polymer magnetite nanoparticles. Langmuir 1999;15:1945.
- [93] Vladimir S, Zaitsev V, Dmitry S, Filimonov I, Gambino RJ, Chu B, Presnyakov A. Physical and chemical properties of magnetite

and magnetite-polymer nanoparticles and their colloidal dispersions. J Coll Interf Sci 1999;212:49.

- [94] Yee C, Kataby G, Ulman A, Prozorov T, White H, King A, Rafailovich M, Sokolov J, Gedanken A. Self assembled monolayers of alkanesulfonic and phosphonic acids on amorphous iron oxide nanoparticles. Langmuir 1999;15:7111.
- [95] Sahoo Y, Pizem H, Fried T, Golodnitsky D, Burstein L, Sukenik CN, Markovich G. Alkyl phosphonate/phosphate coating on magnetite nanoparticles: a comparison with fatty acids. Langmuir 2001;17:7907–11.
- [96] Scholten PC. Thermodynamics of magnetic fluids. Washington, DC: Hemisphere; 1978.
- [97] Rosensweig RE, Kaiser R, Miskolszy G. Viscosity of magnetic fluid in a magnetic field. J Colloid Interf Sci 1969;29(4):680–6.
- [98] Tadmor R, Rosensweig RE, Frey J, Klein J. Resolving the puzzle of ferrofluid dispersants. Langmuir 2000;16:9117–20.
- [99] Janik J, Tadmor R, Klein J. Shear of molecularly confined liquid crystals. 1. Orientation and transition under confinement. Langmuir 1997;13:4466.
- [100] Klein J, Perahia D, Warburg S, Fetters LJ. Forces between polymer-bearing surfaces undergoing shear. Nature 1991; 352:143–5.
- [101] Portet D, Denizot B, Rump E, Lejeune JJ, Jallet P. Nonpolymeric coatings of iron oxide colloids for biological use as magnetic resonance imaging contrast agents. J Coll Interf Sci 2001;238(1):37–42.
- [102] Berry CC, Wells S, Charles S, Curtis ASG. Dextran and albumin derivatised iron oxide nanoparticles: influence on fibroblasts in vitro. Biomaterials 2003;24(25):4551–7.
- [103] Gupta PK, Hung CT. Magnetically controlled targeted microcarrier systems. Life Sci 1989;44:175–86.
- [104] Ugelstad J, Stenstad P, Kilaas L, Prestvik WS, Herje R, Bererge A, Hornes E. Monodisperse magnetic polymer particles. New biochemical and biomedical applications. Blood Purif 1993; 11:349–69.
- [105] Kawaguchi H, Fujimoto K, Nakazawa Y, Sakagawsa M, Ariyoshi Y, Shidara M, Okazaki H, Ebisawa Y. Modification and functionalization of hydrogel microspheres. Colloids & Surfaces A Physicochem Eng Aspects 1996;109:147–54.
- [106] Sauzedde F, Elaissari A, Pichot C. Hydrophilic magnetic polymer latexes 1. Adsorption of magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles onto various cationic latexes. Colloid Polym Sci 1999; 277(9):846–55.
- [107] Sauzedde F, Elaissari A, Pichot C. Hydrophilic magnetic polymer latexes 2. Encapsulation of adsorbed iron oxide nanoparticles. Colloid Polym Sci 1999;277(11):1041–50.
- [108] Furusawa K, Nagashima K, Anzai C. Synthetic process to control the total size and component distribution of multilayer magnetic composite particles. Colloid Polym Sci 1994;272: 1104.
- [109] Chatterjee J, Haik Y, Chen C-J. Modification and characterization of polystyrene-based magnetic microspheres and comparison with albumin-based magnetic microspheres. J Magn Magn Mater 2001;225(1–2):21–9.
- [110] Lee J, Isobe T, Senna M. Preparation of ultrafine Fe₃O₄ particles by precipitation in the presence of PVA at high pH. J Coll Interf Sci 1996(177):490–4.
- [111] Ng V, Lee YV, Chen BT, Adeyeye AO. Nanostructure array fabrication with temperature-controlled self-assembly techniques. Nanotechnology 2002;13:554–8.
- [112] Kataby G, Ulman A, Prozorov R, Gedanken A. Coating of amorphous iron nanoparticles by long-chain alcohols. Langmuir 1998;14:1512–5.
- [113] Capek I. Microemulsion polymerization of styrene in the presence of a cationic emulsifier. Adv Colloid Interf Sci 2001; 92(1–3):195–233.

- [114] Jiles D. Introduction to magnetism and magnetic materials. New York: Chapman & Hall; 1991.
- [115] Grüttner C, Teller J, Schütt W, Westphal F, Schümichen C, Paulke BR. Preparation and characterization of magnetic nanospheres for in vivo application. In: Häfeli UO, Schütt W, Teller J, Zborowski M, editors. Scientific and clinical applications of magnetic carriers. New York: Plenum Press; 1997. p. 53–68.
- [116] Torchilin VP, Trubetskoy VS. Which polymers can make nanoparticulate drug carriers long-circulating. Adv Drug Del Rev 1995;16(2–3):141–55.
- [117] Florence AT. The oral absorption of micro- and nanoparticulates: neither exceptional nor unusual. Pharm Res 1997; 14(3):259–66.
- [118] Chen M, Yamamuro S, Farrell D, Majetich SA. Gold-coated iron nanoparticles for biomedical applications. J Appl Phys 2003;93(10):7551–3.
- [119] Lin J, Zhou W, Kumbhar A, Fang J, Carpenter EE, O'Connor CJ. Gold-coated iron (Fe@Au) nanoparticles: synthesis, characterization, and magnetic field-induced self-assembly. J Solid State Chem 2001;159:26–31.
- [120] Carpenter EE. Iron nanoparticles as potential magnetic carriers. J Magn Magn Mater 2001;225:17–20.
- [121] Zhou WL, Carpenter EE, Lin J, Kumbhar A, Sims J, O'Connor CJ. Nanostructures of gold coated iron core-shell nanoparticles and the nanobands assembled under magnetic field. Eur Phys J D 2001;16:289–92.
- [122] Ulman A. Formation and structure of self-assembled monolayers. Chem Rev 1996;96:1533–54.
- [123] Mulvaney P, Liz-Marzán LM, Giersig M, Ung T. Silica encapsulation of quantum dots and metal clusters. J Mater Chem 2000;10:1259–70.
- [124] Tartaj P, González-Carreño T, Serna CJ. Synthesis of nanomagnets dispersed in colloidal silica cages with applications in chemical separation. Langmuir 2002;18:4556–8.
- [125] Tartaj P, González-Carreño T, Serna CJ. Single-step nanoengineering of silica coated maghemite hollow spheres with tunable magnetic properties. Adv Mater 2001;13:1620–4.
- [126] Santra S, Tapec R, Theodoropoulou N, Dobson J, Hebard A, Tan W. Synthesis and characterization of silica-coated iron oxide nanoparticles in microemulsion: the effect of non-ionic surfactants. Langmuir 2001;17:2900–6.
- [127] Morawski AM, Winter PM, Crowder KC, Caruthers SD, Fuhrhop RW, Scott MJ, Robertson JD, Abendschein DR, Lanza GM, Wickline SA. Targeted nanoparticles for quantitative imaging of sparse molecular epitopes with MRI. Magn Reson Med 2004;51:480–6.
- [128] Shepherd PG, Popplewell J, Charles SW. A method of producing ferrofluid with gadolinium particles. J Phys D Appl Phys 1970;3:1985–6.
- [129] Xu HK, Sorensen CM, Klabunde KJ, Hadjipanayis GC. Aerosol synthesis of gadolinium iron garnet particles. J Mater Res 1992;7(3):712–6.
- [130] Roberts MJ, Bentley MD, Harris JM. Chemistry for peptide and protein PEGylation. Adv Drug Del Rev 2002;54(4):459–76.
- [131] Chen C. Magnetism and metallurgy of soft magnetic materials. New York: Dover Publications, Inc.; 1986.
- [132] Sorensen CM. In: Klabunde KJ, editor. Nanoscale materials in chemistry. New York: Wiley; 2001. p. 169.
- [133] Elliott SR. The physics and chemistry of solids. New York: Wiley; 1998.
- [134] Sato T, Iijima T, Sekin M, Inagaki N. Magnetic properties of ultrafine ferrite particles. J Magn Magn Mater 1987;65:252.
- [135] Dormann JL, Tronc E, Fiorani D. In: Prigogine I, Rice SA, editors. Advances in chemical physics series, vol. 98. New York: Wiley; 1997. p. 283.

- [136] Lefebure S, Dubois V, Cabuil V, Neveu, Massart S. Monodisperse magnetic nanoparticles: preparation and dispersion in water and oils. J Mater Res 1998;10:2975.
- [137] Bean CP, Livingstone JD. Superparamagnetism. J Appl Phys 1959;30:120S–9S.
- [138] Li Y, Xiong P, Molnár SV, Wirth S, Ohno Y, Ohno H. Hall magnetometry on a single iron nanoparticle. Appl Phys Lett 2002;80(24):4644–6.
- [139] Han DH, Wang JP, Luo HL. Crystallite size effect on saturation magnetization of fine ferrimagnetic particles. J Magn Magn Mater 136(1-2):176-82.
- [140] Tourinho F, Franck R, Massart R, Perzynski R. Synthesis and magnetic properties of manganese and cobalt ferrofluids. Prog Colloid Polym Sci 1989;79:128.
- [141] Gomez-Lopera SA, Plaza RC, Delgado AV. Synthesis and characterization of spherical magnetite/biodegradable polymer composite particles. J Colloid Interf Sci 2001;240(1):40–7.
- [142] Voit W, Kim DK, Zapka W, Muhammed M, Rao KV. Magnetic behavior of coated superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles in ferrofluids. Mater Res Soc Symp Proc 2001;676:Y7.8.1–6.
- [143] Bradbury A, Menear S, O'Grady K, Chantrell RW. Magnetic size determination for interacting fine particle systems. IEEE Trans Magn 1984;20(5):1846–8.
- [144] Olsvik O, Popovic T, Skjerve E, Cudjoe KS, Hornes E, Ugelstad J, Uhlen M. Magnetic separation techniques in diagnostic microbiology. Clin Microbiol Rev 1994;7:43–54.
- [145] Yeh TC, Zhang W, Ldstad ST, Ho C. Intracellular labeling of Tcells with superparamagnetic contrast agents. Magn Reson Med 1993;30:617–25.
- [146] Handgretinger R, Lang P, Schumm M, Taylor G, Neu S, Koscielnak E, Niethammer D, Klingebiel T. Isolation and transplantation of autologous peripheral CD34+progenitor cells highly purified by magnetic-activated cell sorting. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998;21:987–93.
- [147] Schoepf U, Marecos E, Jain R, Weissleder R. Intracellular magnetic labelling of lymphocytes for in vivo trafficking studies. BioTechniques 1998;24:642–51.
- [148] Cuatrecasas P, Roth TF, editors. Receptor-mediated endocytosis. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 1983 [Hardbound, ISBN 0-412-24820-4].
- [149] Weissleder R, Cheng HC, Bogdanova A, Bogdanov A. Magnetically labelled cells can be detected by MR imaging. J Magn Reson Imaging 1997;7:258–63.
- [150] Bilbao G, Gomez-Navarro J, Curiel D. In: Walden P, et al., editors. Targeted adenoviral vectors for cancer gene therapy. New York: Plenum Press; 1998. p. 365–74.
- [151] Qian ZM, Li H, Sun H, Ho K. Targeted drug delivery via transferrin receptor-mediated endocytosis pathway. Pharmacol Rev 2002;54(4):561–87.
- [152] Lauffenburger DA. In: Lauffenburger DA, Linderman JJ, editors. Receptors: models for binding, trafficking, and signaling. New York, Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1993.
- [153] Cotter TG, Al-Rubeai M. Cell death (apoptosis) in cell culture systems. Trends Biotechnol 1995;13(4):150–5.
- [154] Gupta AK, Curtis ASG. Lactoferrin and ceruloplasmin derivatized superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: preparation, characterization and their influence on human dermal fibroblasts in culture. Proceedings of the 30th Annual Symposium of Controlled Release of Bioactive Materials, vol. 30, 2003. p. 788.
- [155] Gupta AK, Berry C, Gupta M, Curtis A. Receptor-mediated targeting of magnetic nanoparticles using insulin as a surface ligand to prevent endocytosis. IEEE Trans Nanobiosci 2003; 2(4):256–61.
- [156] Zola H. Detection of receptors for cytokines and growth factors. Immunologist 1994;2:47–50.

- [157] Florin E-L, Moy VT, Gaub HE. Adhesion forces between individual ligand–receptor pairs. Science 1994;264:415.
- [158] Pierres A, Benoliel AM, Bongrand P. Measuring bonds between surface-associated molecules. J Immunol Methods 1996;196:105.
- [159] Winoto-Morbach S, Tchikov V, Müller-Ruchholtz WJ. Magnetophoresis: I. Detection of magnetically labeled cells. J Clin Lab Anal 1994;8:400.
- [160] Tchikov V, Winoto-Morbach S, Krönke M, Kabelitz D, Schütze S. Adhesion of immunomagnetic particles targeted to antigens and cytokine receptors on tumor cells determined by magnetophoresis. J Magn Magn Mater 2001;225:285–93.
- [161] Hayat MA. Colloidal gold principles, methods, and applications, vols 1–13. London: Academic press; 1991. p. 14.
- [162] Massia SP, Stark J, Letbetter DS. Surface immobilized dextran limits cell adhesion and spreading. Biomaterials 2000;21: 2253–61.
- [163] Bourke SL, Kohn J. Polymers derived from the amino acid L-tyrosine: polycarbonates, polyarylates and copolymers with poly(ethylene glycol). Adv Drug Del Rev 2003;55(4):447–66.
- [164] Brandley BK, Schnaar RL. Covalent attachment of an Arg-Gly-Asp sequence peptide to derivatizable polyacrylamide surfaces: support of fibroblast adhesion and long term growth. Anal Biochem 1998;172:270–8.
- [165] Nakajima A, Hirano Y, Iida M. Adsorption of plasma proteins on Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser peptide-immobilized poly(vinylalcohol) and ethylene-acrylic copolymer films. Polym J 1990;22:985.
- [166] Osterberg E, Bergstrom K, Holmberg K, Riggs JA, Van Alstine JM, Schumann TP, Burns NL, Harris JM. Comparison of polysachharide and poly(ethylene glycol) coatings for reduction of protein adsorption on polystyrene surfaces. Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp 1993;77:159.
- [167] Holland NB, et al. Biomimetic engineering of non-adhesive glycocalyx-like surfaces using oligosaccharide surfactant polymers. Nature 1998;392:477–8.
- [168] Frazier RA, Davies MC, Matthijs G, Roberts CJ, Schacht E, Tendler SJB, Williams PM. In situ surface plasmon resonance analysis of dextran monolayer degradation by dextranase. Langmuir 1997;13(26):7115–20.
- [169] Crepon B, Chytry JJ, Kopeček R. Enzymatic degradation and immunogenic properties of derivatized dextrans. Biomaterials 1991;12(6):550–4.
- [170] Wilhelm C, Billotey C, Roger J, Pons JN, Bacri J-C, Gazeau F. Intracellular uptake of anionic superparamagnetic nanoparticles as a function of their surface coating. Biomaterials 2003;24(6): 1001–11.
- [171] Josephson L, Tung C-H, Moore A, Weissleder R. Highefficiency intracellular magnetic labeling with novel superparamagnetic-Tat peptide conjugates. Bioconj Chem 1999;10(2): 186–91.
- [172] Bulte JWM, Douglas T, Witwer B, Zhang S-C, Strable E, Lewis BK, Zywicke H, Miller B, Gelderen PV, Moskowitz BM, Duncan ID, Frank JA. Magnetodendrimers allow endosomal magnetic labeling and in vivo tracking of stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2001;19(12):1141–7.
- [173] Mutsaers SE, Papadimitriou JM. Surface charge of macrophages and their interaction with charged particles. J Leukoc Biol 1988;44:17–26.
- [174] Farquhar MG. Recovery of surface membrane in anterior pituitary cells variations in traffic detected with anionic and cationic ferritin. J Cell Biol 1978;77:R35–42.
- [175] Ghinea N, Simionescu N. Anionized and cationized hemeundecapeptides as probes for cell surface charge and permeability studies: differentiated labeling of endothelial plasmalemmal vesicles. J Cell Biol 1985;100:606–12.
- [176] Miller CR, Bondurant B, McLean SD, McGovern KA, O'Brien DF. Liposome-cell interactions in vitro: effect of liposome

surface charge on the binding and endocytosis of conventional and sterically stabilized liposomes. Biochemistry 1988;37(7): 12875–83.

- [177] Josphson L, Groman EV, Menz E, Lewis JM, Bengele H. A functionalised superparamagnetic iron oxide colloid as a receptor directed MR contrast agent. Magn Reson Imaging 1990;8:637–47.
- [178] Moore A, Basilion J, Chiocca EA, Weissleder R. Measuring transferrin receptor gene expression by NMR imaging. Biochim Biophys Acta 1998;1402:239–49.
- [179] Bulte JWM, Zhang S-C, Gelderen P van, Herynek V, Jordan EK, Duncan ID, Frank JA. Neurotransplantation of magnetically labeled oligodendrocyte progenitors: magnetic resonance tracking of cell migration and myelination. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (online) 1999;96(26):15256–61.
- [180] Weissleder R, Cheng HC, Bogdanova A, Bogdanov Jr A. Magnetically labelled cells can be detected by MR imaging. Magn Reson Imaging 1997;7:258–63.
- [181] Berry CC, Charles S, Wells S, Dalby MJ, Curtis ASG. The influence of transferrin stabilised magnetic nanoparticles on human dermal fibroblasts in culture. Int J Pharm 2004; 269(1):211–25.
- [182] Zhao M, Kircher MF, Josephson L, Weissleder R. Differential conjugation of Tat peptide to superparamagnetic nanoparticles and its effect on cellular uptake. Bioconjug Chem 2002;13(4):840–4.
- [183] Bhorade R, Weissleder R, Nakakoshi T, Moore A, Tung C-H. Macrocyclic chelators with paramagnetic cations are internalized into mammalian cells via a Hiv-Tat derived membrane translocation peptide. Bioconjug Chem 2000;11(3):301–5.
- [184] Moore A, Josephson L, Bhorade RM, Basilion JP, Weissleder R. Human transferrin receptor gene as a marker gene for MR imaging. Radiology 2001;221:244–50.
- [185] Nam JM, Thaxton CS, Mirkin CA. Nanoparticle-based bio-bar codes for the ultrasensitive detection of proteins. Science 2003;301:1884–6.
- [186] Nam JM, Park SJ, Mirkin CA. Bio-barcodes based on oligonucleotide-modified nanoparticles. J Am Chem Soc 2002; 124:3820–1.
- [187] Storhoff JJ, Mirkin CA. Programmed materials synthesis with DNA. Chem Rev 1999;99(7):1849–62.
- [188] Kemmner W, Moldenhauer G, Schlag P, Brossmer R. Separation of tumor cells from a suspension of dissociated human colorectal carcinoma tissue by means of monoclonal antibodycoated magnetic beads. J Immunol Methods 1992;147(2): 197–200.
- [189] Kronick P, Gilpin RW. Use of superparamagnetic for isolation of cells. J Biochem Biophys Methods 1986;12:73–80.
- [190] Lobel B, Eyal O, Kariv N, Katzir A. Temperature controlled CO₂ laser welding of soft tissues: Urinary bladder welding in different animal models (rats, rabbits, and cats). Lasers Surg Med 2000;26:4–12.
- [191] Fried NM, et al. Radiometric surface temperature measurements during dye-assisted laser skin closure: in vitro and in vivo results. Lasers Surg Med 1999;25(4):291–303.
- [192] Xu HH, Smith DT, Simon CG. Strong and bioactive composites containing nano-silica-fused whiskers for bone repair. Biomaterials 2004;25(19):4615–26.
- [193] Sokolov K, Follen M, Aaron J, Pavlova I, Malpica A, Lotan R, Richards-Kortum R. Real-time vital optical imaging of precancer using anti-epidermal growth factor receptor antibodies conjugated to gold nanoparticles. Cancer Res 2003;63(9): 1999–2004.
- [194] Kiessling AA, Anderson SC. Human embryonic stem cells, an introduction to the science and therapeutic potential. USA: Jones & Bartlett Publishers; 2003.

- [195] Bulte JW, Douglas T, Witwer B, et al. Magnetodendrimers allow endosomal magnetic labeling and in vivo tracking of stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2001;19:1141–7.
- [196] Chouly C, Pouliquen D, Lucet I, Jeune P, Pellet JJ. Development of superparamagnetic nanoparticles for MRI: effect of particles size, charge and surface nature on biodistribution. J Microencapsul 1996;13:245–55.
- [197] Storm G, Belliot SO, Daemen T, Lasic DD. Surface modification of nanoparticles to oppose uptake by the mononuclear phagocyte system. Adv Drug Del Rev 1995;17:31–48.
- [198] Zhang Y, Kohler N, Zhang M. Surface modification of superparamagnetic magnetite nanoparticles and their intracellular uptake. Biomaterials 2002;23(7):1553–61.
- [199] Yamazaki M, Ito M. Deformation and instability of membrane structure of phospholipid vesicles caused by osmophobic association: mechanical stress model for the mechanism of poly(ethylene glycol)-induced membrane fusion. Biochemistry 1990;29(5):1309–14.
- [200] Widder KJ, Senyei AE, Ranney DF. In vitro release of biologically active adriamycin by magnetically responsive albumin microspheres. Cancer Res 1980;40(10):3512–7.
- [201] Gupta PK, Hung CT. Magnetically controlled targeted chemotherapy. In: Willmott N, Daly J, editors. Microspheres and regional cancer therapy. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, Inc.; 1993. p. 71–116.
- [202] Gallo JM, Hung CT, Gupta PK, Perrier DG. Physiological pharmacokinetic model of adriamycin delivered via magnetic albumin microspheres in the rat. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm 1989;17:305–26.
- [203] Gallo JM, Gupta PK, Hung CT, Perrier DG. Evaluation of drug delivery following administration of magnetic albumin microspheres containing adriamycin to the rat. J Pharm Sci 1989;78:190–4.
- [204] Zimmermann U, Vienken J, Pilwat G. Development of drug carrier systems: electrical field induced effects in cell membranes. Bioelectrochem Bioenerg 1980;7:553–74.
- [205] Freeman JA, Geer JC. Intestinal fat and iron transport, goblet cell mucus secretion, and cellular changes in protein deficiency observed with the electron microscope. Am J Dig Dis 1965;10(12):1005–25.
- [206] Meyers PH, Nice Jr CM, Meckstroth GR, Becker HC, Moser PJ, Goldstein M. Pathologic studies following magnetic control of metallic iron particles in the lymphatic and vascular system of dogs as a contrast and isotopic agent. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med 1966;96(4): 913–21.
- [207] Gallo JM, Varkonyi P, Hassan EE, Groothius DR. Targeting anticancer drugs to the brain: II. Physiological pharmacokinetic model of oxantrazole following intraarterial administration to rat glioma-2 (RG-2) bearing rats. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm 1993;21(5):575–92.
- [208] Hirao K, Sugita T, Kubo T, Igarshi K, Tanimoto K, Murkami T, Yasunaga Y, Ochi M. Targeted gene delivery to human osteosarcoma cells with magnetic cationic liposomes under a magnetic field. Int J Oncol 2003;22:1065–71.
- [209] Choi SW, Kim WS, Kim J-H. Surface modification of functional nanoparticles for controlled drug delivery. J Dispersion Sci Technol 2003;24(3&4):2003.
- [210] PaÈuser S, Reszka R, Wagner S, Wolf KJ, Buhr HJ, Berger G. Liposome-encapsulated superparamagnetic iron oxide particles as markers in an MRI-guided search for tumor-specific drug carriers. Anticancer Drug Des 1997;12:125–35.
- [211] Kubo T, Sugita T, Shimose S, Nitta Y, Ikuta Y, Murakami T. Targeted delivery of anticancer drugs with intravenously administered magnetic liposomes in osteosarcoma-bearing hamsters. Int J Oncol 2000;17:309–15.

- [212] Kubo T, Sugita T, Shimose S, Nitta Y, Ikuta Y, Murakami T. Targeted systemic chemotherapy using magnetic liposomes with incorporated adriamycin for osteosarcoma in hamsters. Int J Oncol 2001;18:121–5.
- [213] Wilbanks GA, Streilein JW. Distinctive humoral immune responses following anterior chamber and intravenous administration of soluble antigen. Evidence for active suppression of IgG2-secreting B lymphocytes. Immunology 1990;71(4): 566–72.
- [214] Isabelle B, Shinkai A, Hiroyuki MH, Takeshi K. Enhancement of cytokine expression in transiently transfected cells by magnetoliposome mediated hyperthermia. Cytotechnology 1997;25(1/3):231–4.
- [215] Gupta AK, Curtis ASG. Surface modified superparamagnetic nanoparticles for drug delivery: interaction studies with human fibroblasts in culture. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2004;15(4): 493–6.
- [216] Najafi F, Sarbolouki MN. Biodegradable micelles/polymersomes from fumaric/sebacic acids and poly(ethylene glycol). Biomaterials 2003;24(7):1175–82.
- [217] Otsuka H, Nagasaki Y, Kataoka K. PEGylated nanoparticles for biological and pharmaceutical applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2003;54(8):403–19.
- [218] Chilkoti A, Dreher MR, Meyer DE. Design of thermally responsive, recombinant polypeptide carriers for targeted drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2002;54(8):1093–111.
- [219] Weissleder R, Bogdanov A, Neuwelt EA, Papisov M. Long circulating iron oxides for MR imaging. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 1995;16:321–34.
- [220] Johnson GA, et al. Histology by magnetic resonance microscopy. Mag Reson 1993;Q9:1–30.
- [221] Fawell S, Seery J, Daikh Y, Moore C, Chen LL, Pepinsky B, Barsoum J. Tat-mediated delivery of heterologous proteins into cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91:664–8.
- [222] Lewin M, Carlesso N, Tung C-H, Tang X-W, Cory D, Scadden T, Weissleder R. Tat peptide-derivatized magnetic nanoparticles allow in vivo tracking and recovery of progenitor cells. Nat Biotechnol 2000;18:410–4.
- [223] Weissleder R, Moore A, Mahmood U, Bhorade R, Benveniste H, Chiocca E, Basilion JB. In vivo MR imaging of transgene expression. Nat Med 2000;6:351–5.
- [224] Enochs WS, Harsh G, Hochberg F, Weissleder R. Improved delineation of human brain tumors on MR images using a longcirculating, superparamagnetic iron oxide agent. J Magn Reson Imag 1999;9:228–32.
- [225] Contag PR, Olomu IN, Stevenson DK, Contag CH. Bioluminescent indicators in living mammals. Nat Med 1998;4: 245–7.
- [226] Zhao M, Beauregard DA, Loizou L, Davletov B, Brindle KM. Non-invasive detection of apoptosis using magnetic resonance imaging and a targeted contrast agent. Nat Med 2001;7: 1241-4.
- [227] Thompson CB. Apoptosis in the pathogenesis and treatment of disease. Science 1995;267:1456–62.
- [228] Poptani H, Puumalainen A, Gröhn OHJ, Loimas S, Kainulainen R, Ylä-Herttuala S, Kauppinen RA. Monitoring thymidine kinase and gancyclovir induced changes in rat malignant glioma in vivo by nuclear magnetic resonance imaging. Cancer Gene Ther 1998;5:101–9.
- [229] Francis G, Blankenberg P, Katsikis D, Storrs RW, Beaulieu C, Spielman D, Chen JY, Naumovski L, Tait JF. Quantitative analysis of apoptotic cell death using proton nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Blood 1997;89(10):3778–86.
- [230] Nunn AVW, Barnard ML, Bhakoo K, Murray J, Chilvers EJ, Bell JD. Characterisation of secondary metabolites associated with neutrophil apoptosis. FEBS Lett 1996;392:295–8.

- [231] Nielsen OS, Horsman M, Overgaard J. A future for hyperthermia in cancer treatment? Eur J Cancer 2001;37:1587–9.
- [232] Gordon RT, Hines JR, Gordon D. Intracellular hyperthermia. A biophysical approach to cancer treatment via intracellular temperature and biophysical alterations. Med Hypothesis 1979;5:83–102.
- [233] Luderer AA, Borrelli NF, Panzarino JN, Mansfield GR, Hess DM, Brown JL, Barnett EH. Glass-ceramic-mediated, magneticfield-induced localized hyperthermia: response of a murine mammary carcinoma. Radiat Res 1983;94:190–8.
- [234] Chan DCF, Kirpotin DB, Bunn Jr PA. Synthesis and evaluation of colloidal magnetic iron oxides for the site specific radiofrequency-induced hyperthermia of cancer. J Magn Magn Mater 1993;122:374–8.
- [235] Sneed PK, Stea B. In: Seegenschmiedt MH, Fessenden P, Vernon CC, editors. Thermoradiotherapy and thermochemotherapy, vol 2. Berlin: Springer; 1996.
- [236] Jordan A, Scholz R, Wust P, Schirra H. Endocytosis of dextran and silan-coated magnetite nanoparticles and the effect of intracellular hyperthermia on human mammary carcinoma cells in vitro. J Magn Magn Mater 1999;194(1–3):185–96.
- [237] Wada S, Tazawa K, Furuta I, Nagae H. Antitumor effect of new local hyperthermia using dextran magnetite complex in hamster tongue carcinoma. Oral Dis 2003;9(4):218.
- [238] Ito A, Shinkai M, Honda H, Kobayashi T. Heat-inducible *TNF*- α gene therapy combined with hyperthermia using magnetic nanoparticles as a novel tumor-targeted therapy. Cancer Gene Ther 2001;8(9):649–54.
- [239] Scherer F, Anton M, Schillinger U, Henke J, Bergemann C, Kruger A, Gansbacher B, Plank C. Magnetofection: enhancing and targeting gene delivery by magnetic force in vitro and in vivo. Gene Ther 2002;9:102–9.
- [240] Krotz F, Wit C, Sohn HY, Zahler S, Gloe T, Pohl U, Plank C. Magnetofection—a highly efficient tool for antisense oligonucleotide delivery in vitro and in vivo. Mol Ther 2003;7:700–10.
- [241] Krotz F, Sohn HY, Gloe T, Plank C, Pohl U. Magnetofection potentiates gene delivery to cultured endothelial cells. J Vasc Res 2003;40(5):425–34.
- [242] Krotz F, de Wit C, Sohn HY, Zahler S, Gloe T, Pohl U, Plank C. Magnetofection—a highly efficient tool for antisense oligonucleotide delivery in vitro and in vivo. Mol Ther 2003; 7(5):700–10.
- [243] Yuen S. Pullulan and its applications. Process Biochem 1974; 9(9):7–9.
- [244] Kaneo Y, Tanaka T, Nakano T, Yamaguchi Y. Evidence for receptor mediated hepatic uptake of pullulan in rats. J Cont Rel 2001;70(3):365–73.
- [245] Debelle L, Tamburro AM. Elastin: molecular description and function. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1999;31(2):261–72.
- [246] Baker ME. Albumin's role in steroid hormone action and the origins of vertebrates: is albumin an essential protein? FEBS Lett 1998;439(1–2):9–12.
- [247] Bhadriraju K, Hansen LK. Hepatocyte adhesion, growth and differentiated function on RGD-containing proteins. Biomaterials 2000;21(3):267–72.
- [248] Tanji N, Aoki K, Yokoyama M. Growth factors: roles in andrology. Arch Androl 2001;47(1):1–7.
- [249] D'Souza AJ, Schowen RL, Topp EM. Polyvinylpyrrolidone– drug conjugate: synthesis and release mechanism. J Cont Rel 2004;94(1):91–100.
- [250] Shan GB, Xing JM, Luo MF, Liu HZ, Chen JY. Immobilization of *Pseudomonas delafieldii* with magnetic polyvinyl alcohol beads and its application in biodesulfurization. Biotechnol Lett 2003; 25(23):1977–81.
- [251] Burugapalli K, Koul V, Dinda AK. Effect of composition of interpenetrating polymer network hydrogels based on poly

(acrylic acid) and gelatin on tissue response: a quantitative in vivo study. J Biomed Mater Res 2004;68A(2):210-8.

- [252] Chen G, Hoffman AS. Preparation and properties of thermoreversible, phaseseparating enzyme-oligo(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) conjugates. Bioconjug Chem 1993;4(6):509–14.
- [253] Khor E, Lim LY. Implantable applications of chitin and chitosan. Biomaterials 2003;24(13):2339–49.
- [254] Olsen D, Yang C, Bodo M, Chang R, Leigh S, Baez J, Carmichael D, Perala M, Hamalainen ER, Jarvinen M, Polarek J. Recombinant collagen and gelatin for drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2003;55(12):1547–67.
- [255] Boyle MD, Lawman MJ, Gee AP, Young M. Nerve growth factor: a chemotactic factor for polymorphonuclear leukocytes in vivo. J Immunol 1985;134(1):564–8.